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Chapter 1

Antipater Was Hated by All the Jews for the
Slaughter of his Brethren

1. When Antipater (1) had thus taken off his bretthrand had brought
his father into the highest degree of impiety, il was haunted with furies
for what he had done, his hopes did not succe&dstmind, as to the rest of
his life; for although he was delivered from tharfef his brethren being his
rivals as to the government, yet did he find itesyvhard thing, and almost
impracticable, to come at the kingdom, becausehtiieed of the nation
against him on that account was become very gesdt;besides this very
disagreeable circumstance, the affair of the spldiggieved him still more,
who were alienated from him, from which yet thesegk derived all the
safety which they had, whenever they found the onatdesirous of
innovation: and all this danger was drawn upon hynhis destruction of his
brethren. However, he governed the nation jointiyhvhis father, being
indeed no other than a king already; and he wathfdrvery reason trusted,
and the more firmly depended on, for the which hghd himself to have
been put to death, as appearing to have betrayedbribthren out of his
concern for the preservation of Herod, and noterathut of his ill-will to
them, and, before them, to his father himself: #msl was the accursed state
he was in. Now all Antipater's contrivances tenttethake his way to take
off Herod, that he might have nobody to accuse inirtine vile practices he
was devising: and that Herod might have no refuge,any to afford him
their assistance, since they must thereby havepAteti for their open
enemy; insomuch that the very plots he had laidnagdis brethren were
occasioned by the hatred he bore his father. Bahiattime he was more
than ever set upon the execution of his attempmmagHerod, because if he
were once dead, the government would now be fiselyured to him; but if
he were suffered to live any longer, he shouldnbé@ainger, upon a discovery
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of that wickedness of which he had been the catriand his father would
of necessity then become his enemy. And on thiswadcit was that he
became very bountiful to his father's friends, d&edtowed great sums on
several of them, in order to surprise men withdosd deeds, and take off
their hatred against him. And he sent great presenhis friends at Rome
particularly, to gain their good-will; and abovel & Saturninus, the
president of Syria. He also hoped to gain the faxfoBaturninus's brother
with the large presents he bestowed on him; astaesosed the same art to
[Salome] the king's sister, who had married oneexod's chief friends. And
when he counterfeited friendship to those with whoenconversed, he was
very subtle in gaining their belief, and very cummnio hide his hatred against
any that he really did hate. But he could not ingpapon his aunt, who
understood him of a long time, and was a womaneastly to be deluded,
especially while she had already used all possihldion in preventing his
pernicious designs. Although Antipeter's uncle hg tmother's side was
married to her daughter, and this by his own commie and management,
while she had before been married to Aristobulas, &hile Salome's other
daughter by that husband was married to the s@albdéas; yet that marriage
was no obstacle to her, who knew how wicked he waser discovering his
designs, as her former kindred to him could now@ne her hatred of him.
Now Herod had compelled Salome, while she was we Mith Sylleus the
Arabian, and had taken a fondness for him, to mafexas; which match
was by her submitted to at the instance of Julia wersuaded Salome not
to refuse it, lest she should herself be their opeemy, since Herod had
sworn that he would never be friends with Salorhghé would not accept of
Alexas for her husband; so she submitted to Jgliaeing Caesar's wife; and
besides that, she advised her to nothing but whaatwery much for her own
advantage. At this time also it was that Herod dmuk king Archelaus's
daughter, who had been Alexander's wife, to hérefatreturning the portion
he had with her out of his own estate, that thaghtrbe no dispute between
them about it.



2. Now Herod brought up his sons' children with agreare; for
Alexander had two sons by Glaphyra; and Aristobllad three sons by
Bernice, Salome's daughter, and two daughtersaarids friends were once
with him, he presented the children before thend daploring the hard
fortune of his own sons, he prayed that no sudoitune would befall these
who were their children, but that they might impgow virtue, and obtain
what they justly deserved, and might make him arsdadhis care of their
education. He also caused them to be betrotheaisighiey should come to
the proper age of marriage; the elder of Alexasdedns to Pheroras's
daughter, and Antipater's daughter to Aristobulididest son. He also
allotted one of Aristobulus's daughters to Antipatson, and Aristobulus's
other daughter to Herod, a son of his own, who @s to him by the high
priest's daughter; for it is the ancient practio®ag us to have many wives
at the same time. Now the king made these espofmsdlse children, out of
commiseration of them now they were fatherlesseradeavoring to render
Antipater kind to them by these intermarriages. Batipater did not fail to
bear the same temper of mind to his brothers' @mnldvhich he had borne to
his brothers themselves; and his father's conceoutathem provoked his
indignation against them upon this supposal, they would become greater
than ever his brothers had been; while Archcladgng, would support his
daughter's sons, and Pheroras, a tetrarch, woutdptaoof one of the
daughters as a wife to his son. What provoked hsm was this, that all the
multitude would so commiserate these fatherleskir@m, and so hate him
[for making them fatherless], that all would comat,csince they were no
strangers to his vile disposition towards his li&th He contrived, therefore,
to overturn his father's settlements, as thinking terrible thing that they
should be so related to him, and be so powerfllakitSo Herod yielded to
him, and changed his resolution at his entreaty; tae determination now
was, that Antipater himself should marry Aristolmi$u daughter, and
Antipater's son should marry Pheroras's daughterth® espousals for the
marriages were changed after this manner, evenoutitthe king's real
approbation.



3. Now Herod the king had at this time nine wivesie of them
Antipater's mother, and another the high priestiggtiter, by whom he had a
son of his own name. He had also one who was bithér's daughter, and
another his sister's daughter; which two had nétdam. One of his wives
also was of the Samaritan nation, whose sons watgas and Archelaus,
and whose daughter was Olympias; which daughteraftasvard married to
Joseph, the king's brother's son; but Archelausfarigbas were brought up
with a certain private man at Rome. Herod had #&bswife Cleopatra of
Jerusalem, and by her he had his sons Herod aifig; R¥hich last was also
brought up at Rome. Pallas also was one of hissyiwich bare him his
son Phasaelus. And besides these, he had for yes Whedra and Elpis, by
whom he had his daughters Roxana and Salome. Asdarlder daughters
by the same mother with Alexander and Aristobulusd whom Pheroras
neglected to marry, he gave the one in marriag@rtopater, the king's
sister's son, and the other to Phasaelus, hisdstethon. And this was the
posterity of Herod.

Footnote:

1. Those who have a mind to know all the family andcd@dants of
Antipater the ldumean, and of Herod the Great, dus, and have a
memory to preserve them all distinctly, may condokephus, Antig. B.
XVII. ch. 5. sect. 4; and Of the War, B. |. ch..28ect. 4; in
Havercamp's edition, p. 336; and Spanheim, [b0@-405; and Reland,
Paleslin. Part I. p. 178, 176.



Chapter 2
The Plots Laid by Antipater Against his Father

1. And now it was that Herod, being desirous oliseag himself on the
side of the Trachonites, resolved to build a vélags large as a city for the
Jews, in the middle of that country, which mightkeahis own country
difficult to be assaulted, and whence he might béamd to make sallies
upon them, and do them a mischief. Accordingly, nvhe understood that
there was a man that was a Jew come out of Babwdh, five hundred
horsemen, all of whom could shoot their arrowshey rode on horde-back,
and, with a hundred of his relations, had passest &uphrates, and now
abode at Antioch by Daphne of Syria, where Satu)inrvho was then
president, had given them a place for habitatiatied Valatha, he sent for
this man, with the multitude that followed him, aptbmised to give him
land in the toparchy called Batanea, which counsybounded with
Trachonitis, as desirous to make that his habraficguard to himself. He
also engaged to let him hold the country free frimitoute, and that they
should dwell entirely without paying such custonssused to be paid, and
gave it him tax-free.

2. The Babylonian was reduced by these offers toectiither; so he
took possession of the land, and built in it fas®s and a village, and named
it Bathyra. Whereby this man became a safeguateonhabitants against
the Trachonites, and preserved those Jews who catd Babylon, to offer
their sacrifices at Jerusalem, from being hurt liy Trachonite robbers; so
that a great number came to him from all thosespatiere the ancient
Jewish laws were observed, and the country becalneffpeople, by reason
of their universal freedom from taxes. This conéiduduring the life of
Herod; but when Philip, who was [tetrarch] aftemhitook the government,
he made them pay some small taxes, and that fdtlea while only; and
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Agrippa the Great, and his son of the same nanteowadh they harassed
them greatly, yet would they not take their libeatyay. From whom, when
the Romans have now taken the government into tveir hands, they still
gave them the privilege of their freedom, but opprihem entirely with the
imposition of taxes. Of which matter | shall treabre accurately in the
progress of this history. (1)

3. At length Zamaris the Babylonian, to whom Helwatl given that
country for a possession, died, having lived viuslg, and left children of a
good character behind him; one of whom was Jacino, was famous for his
valor, and taught his Babylonians how to ride thHerses; and a troop of
them were guards to the forementioned kings. Anénwhacim was dead in
his old age, he left a son, whose name was Pbitip,of great strength in his
hands, and in other respects also more eminerttifovalor than any of his
contemporaries; on which account there was a cendied and firm
friendship between him and king Agrippa. He had as army which he
maintained as great as that of a king, which herossed and led
wheresoever lie had occasion to march.

4. When the affairs of Herod were in the conditidrave described, all
the public affairs depended upon Antipater; andpmaer was such, that he
could do good turns to as many as he pleased, f@sdby his father's
concession, in hopes of his good-will and fidekity him; and this till he
ventured to use his power still further, because wicked designs were
concealed from his father, and he made him beleey thing he said. He
was also formidable to all, not so much on accoointhe power and
authority he had, as for the shrewdness of hisatdempts beforehand; but
he who principally cultivated a friendship with himas Pheroras, who
received the like marks of his friendship; while thvater had cunningly
encompassed him about by a company of women, wieopldted as guards
about him; for Pheroras was greatly enslaved taifis, and to her mother,
and to her sister; and this notwithstanding thedaahe bare them for the
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indignities they had offered to his virgin daugbteYet did he bear them,
and nothing was to he done without the women, wémb dpot this man into
their circle, and continued still to assist eacheotin all things, insomuch
that Antipater was entirely addicted to them, bbthhimself and by his
mother; for these four women, (2) said all one #r& same thing; but the
opinions of Pheroras and Antipater were differemtsome points of no
consequence. But the king's sister [Salome] was #mtagonist, who for a
good while had looked about all their affairs, avas apprized that this their
friendship was made in order to do Herod some ne§chnd was disposed
to inform the king of it. And since these peoplesknthat their friendship
was very disagreeable to Herod, as tending to a@o &imischief, they
contrived that their meetings should not be disoedeso they pretended to
hate one another, and to abuse one another whersémed, and especially
when Herod was present, or when any one was thatevbuld tell him: but
still their intimacy was firmer than ever, when yheere private. And this
was the course they took. But they could not confrean Salome neither
their first contrivance, when they set about thinsgr intentions, nor when
they had made some progress in them; but she sehoch every thing; and,
aggravating the relations to her brother, declaoekim, as well their secret
assemblies and compotations, as their counselan takea clandestine
manner, which if they were not in order to destiogn, they might well
enough have been open and public. But to appeataryeare at variance,
and speak about one another as if they intendechooher a mischief, but
agree so well together when they are out of thatsd the multitude; for
when they are alone by themselves, they act inarbnand profess that they
will never leave off their friendship, but will fig against those from whom
they conceal their designs. And thus did she seautlthese things, and get
a perfect knowledge of them, and then told her Hamotof them, who
understood also of himself a great deal of whatsshid, but still durst not
depend upon it, because of the suspicions he hausdfister's calumnies.
For there was a certain sect of men that were JeWws,valued themselves
highly upon the exact skill they had in the lawtlodir fathers, and made men
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believe they were highly favored by God, by whons et of women were
inveigled. These are those that are called thedddbe Pharisees, who were
in a capacity of greatly opposing kings. A cunngegt they were, and soon
elevated to a pitch of open fighting and doing mmist Accordingly, when
all the people of the Jews gave assurance of glo@id-will to Caesar, and to
the king's government, these very men did not swkaing above six
thousand; and when the king imposed a fine upom tieroras's wife paid
their fine for them. In order to requite which kimebs of hers, since they
were believed to have the foreknowledge of thingscome by Divine
inspiration, they foretold how God had decreed tHatod's government
should cease, and his posterity should be depoV¥édbut that the kingdom
should come to her and Pheroras, and to their remldThese predictions
were not concealed from Salome, but were told thg;kas also how they
had perverted some persons about the palace gsetfie king slew such of
the Pharisees as were principally accused, andd3atie eunuch, and one
Carus, who exceeded all men of that time in comeBnand one that was his
catamite. He slew also all those of his own famillgo had consented to
what the Pharisees foretold; and for Bagoas, hebkad puffed up by them,
as though he should be named the father and thefdmar of him who, by
the prediction, was foretold to be their appointkaalg; for that this king
would have all things in his power, and would eeraBhgoas to marry, and
to have children of his own body begotten.

Footnotes:
1. This is now wanting.

2. Pheroras's wife, and her mother and sister, andsDdmtipater's
mother.



Chapter 3

Herod Sent Antipater to Caesar

1. When Herod had punished those Pharisees whbdeatconvicted of
the foregoing crimes, he gathered an assemblyhtegetf his friends, and
accused Pheroras's wife; and ascribing the abulsdbleovirgins to the
impudence of that woman, brought an accusatiomagher for the dishonor
she had brought upon them: that she had studiaosiyduced a quarrel
between him and his brother, and, by her ill tempead brought them into a
state of war, both by her words and actions; thatfines which he had laid
had not been paid, and the offenders had escapeshpeent by her means;
and that nothing which had of late been done haa bene without her; "for
which reason Pheroras would do well, if he wouldhisfown accord, and by
his own command, and not at my entreaty, or asviafig my opinion, put
this his wife away, as one that will still be thecasion of war between thee
and me. And now, Pheroras, if thou valuest thytie@lato me, put this wife
of thine away; for by this means thou wilt contirtoeoe a brother to me, and
wilt abide in thy love to me." Then said Pheror@though he was pressed
hard by the former words,) that as he would nosdaunjust a thing as to
renounce his brotherly relation to him, so wouldbgleave off his affection
for his wife; that he would rather choose to diartho live, and be deprived
of a wife that was so dear unto him. Hereupon Hewat off his anger
against Pheroras on these accounts, although reehithereby underwent a
very uneasy punishment. However, he forbade Amdipahd his mother to
have any conversation with Pheroras, and bid tleetalkte care to avoid the
assemblies of the women; which they promised tobdib,still got together
when occasion served, and both Ptieroras and Aatipad their own merry
meetings. The report went also, that Antipater bathinal conversation
with Pheroras's wife, and that they were brouglgetioer by Antipater's
mother.



2. But Antipater had now a suspicion of his fatlerd was afraid that
the effects of his hatred to him might increasehsownrote to his friends at
Rome, and bid them to send to Herod, that he wamithediately send
Antipater to Caesar; which when it was done, Hesedt Antipater thither,
and sent most noble presents along with him; as lastestament, wherein
Antipater was appointed to be his successor; aadiftiAntipater should die
first, his son [Herod Philip] by the high priestaughter should succeed.
And, together with Antipater, there went to Romdle€is the Arabian,
although he had done nothing of all that Caesardmgoined him. Antipater
also accused him of the same crimes of which hebead formerly accused
by Herod. Sylleus was also accused by Aretas,withbut his consent he
had slain many of the chief of the Arabians at &etind particularly
Soemus, a man that deserved to be honored by allane that he had slain
Fabatus, a servant of Caesar. These were the tbingdich Sylleus was
accused, and that on the occasion following: The&as one Corinthus,
belonging to Herod, of the guards of the king'syhoahd one who was
greatly trusted by him. Sylleus had persuaded ritas with the offer of a
great sum of money to kill Herod; and he had preahiso do it. When
Fabatus had been made acquainted with this, fdeyhad himself told
him of it, he informed the king of it; who caughotihthus, and put him to
the torture, and thereby got out of him the whalaspiracy. He also caught
two other Arabians, who were discovered by Coriaflihe one the head of a
tribe, and the other a friend to Sylleus, who baére by the king brought to
the torture, and confessed that they were comadowrage Corinthus not to
fail of doing what he had undertaken to do; anddsist him with their own
hands in the murder, if need should require thesistkance. So Saturninns,
upon Herod's discovering the whole to him, sentnth@ Rome.

3. At this time Herod commanded Pheroras, thatesihe was so
obstinate in his affection for his wife, he shougtire into his own tetrarchy;
which he did very willingly, and sware many oathatthe would not come
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again till he heard that Herod was dead. And indelkdn, upon a sickness
of the king, he was desired to come to him befaredied, that he might
intrust him with some of his injunctions, he hadlswa regard to his oath,
that he would not come to him; yet did not Herodrstin his hatred to
Pheroras, but remitted of his purpose [not to seg, which he before had,
and that for such great causes as have been almeauyoned: but as soon as
he began to be ill, he came to him, and this withming sent for; and when
he was dead, he took care of his funeral, and hadoddy brought to
Jerusalem, and buried there, and appointed a satewamning for him. This
[death of Pheroras] became the origin of Antipaterisfortunes, although he
were already sailed for Rome, God now being aboyiunish him for the
murder of his brethren, | will explain the histoof this matter very
distinctly, that it may be for a warning to mankirttlat they take care of
conducting their whole lives by the rules of virtue
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Chapter 4

Herod Found the Poison That Had Been Prepared
for Himself by his Son Antipater

1. As soon as Pheroras was dead, and his funemalower, two of
Pheroras's freed-men, who were much esteemed hychime to Herod, and
entreated him not to leave the murder of his brothithout avenging it, but
to examine into such an unreasonable and unhapath.dé&/hen he was
moved with these words, for they seemed to himedrbe, they said that
Pheroras supped with his wife the day before Hestek, and that a certain
potion was brought him in such a sort of food asvlas not used to eat; but
that when he had eaten, he died of it: that thisopowas brought out of
Arabia by a woman, under pretense indeed as agdotien, for that was its
name, but in reality to kill Pheroras; for that theabian women are skillful
in making such poisons: and the woman to whom thsgribe this was
confessedly a most intimate friend of one of Syleunistresses; and that
both the mother and the sister of Pheroras's vateldeen at the places where
she lived, and had persuaded her to sell thenptitisn, and had come back
and brought it with them the day before that higpgr. Hereupon the king
was provoked, and put the women slaves to therggrand some that were
free with them; and as the fact did not yet appbacause none of them
would confess it, at length one of them, under utraost agonies, said no
more but this, that she prayed that God would géedike agonies upon
Antipater's mother, who had been the occasion e$e¢hmiseries to all of
them. This prayer induced Herod to increase the evosntortures, fill
thereby all was discovered; their merry meetinigsirtsecret assemblies, and
the disclosing of what he had said to his son alon® Pheroras's (1)
women. (Now what Herod had charged Antipater toceah was the gift of
a hundred talents to him not to have any convensatiith Pheroras.) And
what hatred he bore to his father; and that he tamgd to his mother how
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very long his father lived; and that he was himsdthost an old man,
insomuch that if the kingdom should come to himyauld not afford him
any great pleasure; and that there were a greay rmoamis brothers, or
brothers' children, bringing up, that might haveé® of the kingdom as well
as himself, all which made his own hopes of it utase; for that even now,
if he should himself not live, Herod had ordainkdttthe government should
be conferred, not on his son, but rather on a brotHe also had accused the
king of great barbarity, and of the slaughter &f$ons; and that it was out of
the fear he was under, lest he should do the bkd&im, that made him
contrive this his journey to Rome, and Pheroragroeto go to his own
tetrarchy. (2)

2. These confessions agreed with what his sistdr tbll him, and
tended greatly to corroborate her testimony, andfré® her from the
suspicion of her unfaithfulness to him. So the Kiaying satisfied himself
of the spite which Doris, Antipater's mother, adlwe himself, bore to him,
took away from her all her fine ornaments, whichrevevorth many talents,
and then sent her away, and entered into friendsftlp Pheroras's women.
But he who most of all irritated the king againgt son was one Antipater,
the procurator of Antipater the king's son, whoewlme was tortured, among
other things, said that Antipater had preparedaallyepotion, and given it to
Pheroras, with his desire that he would give ithie father during his
absence, and when he was too remote to have thtesiespicion cast upon
him thereto relating; that Antiphilus, one of Ardtpr's friends, brought that
potion out of Egypt; and that it was sent to Phesdyy Thendion, the brother
of the mother of Antipater, the king's son, and thgt means came to
Pheroras's wife, her husband having given it héeegp. And when the king
asked her about it, she confessed it; and as shaumaing to fetch it, she
threw herself down from the house-top; yet did sbekill herself, because
she fell upon her feet; by which means, when timg kiad comforted her,
and had promised her and her domestics pardon, apodition of their
concealing nothing of the truth from him, but hdwettened her with the
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utmost miseries if she proved ungrateful [and calezk any thing]: so she
promised, and swore that she would speak out dgheryg, and tell after what
manner every thing was done; and said what marly tmde entirely true,
that the potion was brought out of Egypt by Antipkj and that his brother,
who was a physician, had procured it; and that"wihkendion brought it
us, she kept it upon Pheroras's committing it to aed that it was prepared
by Antipater for thee. When, therefore, Pheroras ¥adlen sick, and thou
camest to him and tookest care of him, and wheaakwethe kindness thou
hadst for him, his mind was overborne thereby. Sadiled me to him, and
said to me, 'O woman! Antipater hath circumventeslimthis affair of his
father and my brother, by persuading me to haveuedenous intention to
him, and procuring a potion to be subservient tioer@o thou, therefore, go
and fetch my potion, (since my brother appears dawehstill the same
virtuous disposition towards me which he had fotgneand | do not expect
to live long myself, and that | may not defile nordfathers by the murder of
a brother,) and burn it before my face:' that agcgly she immediately
brought it, and did as her husband bade her; aadstie burnt the greatest
part of the potion; but that a little of it was tlethat if the king, after
Pheroras's death, should treat her ill, she migigom herself, and thereby
get clear of her miseries." Upon her saying thbs, lsrought out the potion,
and the box in which it was, before them all. Ndngre was another brother
of Antiphilus, and his mother also, who, by theremtity of pain and torture,
confessed the same things, and owned the box [thdiewhich had been
brought out of Egypt]. The high priest's daughtsoawho was the king's
wife, was accused to have been conscious of a| #nd had resolved to
conceal it; for which reason Herod divorced hed atotted her son out of
his testament, wherein he had been mentioned athah&as to reign after
him; and he took the high priesthood away fromfatker-in-law, Simeon
the son of Boethus, and appointed Matthias theo$drheophilus, who was
born at Jerusalem, to be high priest in his room.

3. While this was doing, Bathyllus also, Antipaefteed-man, came
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from Rome, and, upon the torture, was found to Hmweght another potion,
to give it into the hands of Antipater's motherdasf Pheroras, that if the
former potion did not operate upon the king, thiteast might carry him off.
There came also letters from Herod's friends at &doy the approbation
and at the suggestion of Antipater, to accuse Aaciseand Philip, as if they
calumniated their father on account of the slaugluie Alexander and
Aristobulus, and as if they commiserated their khieaand as if, because they
were sent for home, (for their father had alreadgalled them,) they
concluded they were themselves also to be destrdyezte letters had been
procured by great rewards by Antipater's friendd;Antipater himself wrote
to his father about them, and laid the heaviesigsito their charge; yet did
he entirely excuse them of any guilt, and said tveye but young men, and
so imputed their words to their youth. But he daiat he had himself been
very busy in the affair relating to Sylleus, andgeetting interest among the
great men; and on that account had bought splemglidments to present
them withal, which cost him two hundred talentswNane may wonder how
it came about, that while so many accusations Vegteagainst him in Judea
during seven months before this time, he was natenaquainted with any
of them. The causes of which were, that the roasle wxactly guarded, and
that men hated Antipater; for there was nobody wioolld run any hazard
himself to gain him any advantages.

Footnotes:

1. His wife, her mother, and sister.

2. It seems to me, by this whole story put togethwsat Pheroras was not
himself poisoned, as is commonly supposed; for pgatér had
persuaded him to poison Herod, ch. v. sect. 1, winould fall to the
ground if he wore himself poisoned; nor could tléspning of Pheroras
serve any design that appears now going forwardyas only the
supposal of two of his freed-men, that this lovéigug or poison, which
they knew was brought to Pheroras's wife, was maske of for
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poisoning him; whereas it appears to have beenghtdor her husband
to poison Herod withal, as the future examinatidesonstrate.
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Chapter 5

Antipater Was Condemned to Die by his Father

1. Now Herod, upon Antipater's writing to him, thetving done all that
he was to do, and this in the manner he was t¢, th@ would suddenly come
to him, concealed his anger against him, and wratk to him, and bid him
not delay his journey, lest any harm should bdfatiself in his absence. At
the same time also he made some little complaioutabis mother, but
promised that he would lay those complaints asiienvhe should return.
He withal expressed his entire affection for him,faaring lest he should
have some suspicion of him, and defer his jourodyim; and lest, while he
lived at Rome, he should lay plots for the kingdaand, moreover, do
somewhat against himself. This letter Antipater mih in Cilicia; but had
received an account of Pheroras's death beforaranium. This last news
affected him deeply; not out of any affection fdreloras, but because he
was dead without having murdered his father, whiethad promised him to
do. And when he was at Celenderis in Cilicia, hgdmeto deliberate with
himself about his sailing home, as being much g@dewith the ejection of
his mother. Now some of his friends advised hint beashould tarry a while
some where, in expectation of further informatiBat others advised him to
sail home without delay; for that if he were onaame thither, he would
soon put an end to all accusations, and that npthiforded any weight to
his accusers at present but his absence. He wasqaed by these last, and
sailed on, and landed at the haven called Sebaghish Herod had built at
vast expenses in honor of Caesar, and called %sbadnd now was
Antipater evidently in a miserable condition, whilebody came to him nor
saluted him, as they did at his going away, wittodgavishes of joyful
acclamations; nor was there now any thing to hindem from entertaining
him, on the contrary, with bitter curses, whileytlseipposed he was come to
receive his punishment for the murder of his besthr
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2. Now Quintilius Varus was at this time at Jerasal being sent to
succeed Saturninus as president of Syria, and w@® @s an assessor to
Herod, who had desired his advice in his presefairaf and as they were
sitting together, Antipater came upon them, withkabwing any thing of
the matter; so he came into the palace clotheduipl®. The porters indeed
received him in, but excluded his friends. And neevwas in great disorder,
and presently understood the condition he was mlewupon his going to
salute his father, he was repulsed by him, whcedatim a murderer of his
brethren, and a plotter of destruction against alfnand told him that Varus
should be his auditor and his judge the very next do he found that what
misfortunes he now heard of were already upon ith the greatness of
which he went away in confusion; upon which his Imeotand his wife met
him, (which wife was the daughter of Antigonus, wias king of the Jews
before Herod,) from whom he learned all circumsésnahich concerned
him, and then prepared himself for his trial.

3. On the next day Varus and the king sat togethgrdgment, and both
their friends were also called in, as also the 'kinglations, with his sister
Salome, and as many as could discover any thing,sach as had been
tortured; and besides these, some slaves of Aatipatother, who were
taken up a little before Antipater's coming, andught with them a written
letter, the sum of which was this: That he showtagome back, because all
was come to his father's knowledge; and that Cagaarthe only refuge he
had left to prevent both his and her delivery ini® father's hands. Then did
Antipater fall down at his father's feet, and begdthim not to prejudge his
cause, but that he might be first heard by hisefatand that his father would
keep himself unprejudiced. So Herod ordered hinbegobrought into the
midst, and then lamented himself about his childfeom whom he had
suffered such great misfortunes; and because Aatifall upon him in his
old age. He also reckoned up what maintenance dad @ducation he had
given them; and what seasonable supplies of wémthad afforded them,
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according to their own desires; none of which favaad hindered them from
contriving against him, and from bringing his vdifg¢ into danger, in order

to gain his kingdom, after an impious manner, lkynig. away his life before

the course of nature, their father's wishes, otigesrequired that that
kingdom should come to them; and that he wonderbdtwopes could

elevate Antipater to such a pass as to be hardygnio attempt such things;
that he had by his testament in writing declared his successor in the
government; and while he was alive, he was in peaet inferior to him,

either in his illustrious dignity, or in power amdthority, he having no less
than fifty talents for his yearly income, and hageaived for his journey to
Rome no fewer than thirty talents. He also objedtethim the case of his
brethren whom he had accused; and if they weréyghié had imitated their
example; and if not, he had brought him groundiessisations against his
near relations; for that he had been acquainteld alitthose things by him,

and by nobody else, and had done what was donasbapiprobation, and
whom he now absolved from all that was criminal bggoming the inheritor
of the guilt of such their parricide.

4. When Herod had thus spoken, he fell a weepind,veas not able to
say any more; but at his desire Nicolaus of Dangsbeing the king's
friend, and always conversant with him, and acgedinvith whatsoever he
did, and with the circumstances of his affairs,ceeded to what remained,
and explained all that concerned the demonstrataomb evidences of the
facts. Upon which Antipater, in order to make hegdl defense, turned
himself to his father, and enlarged upon the madications he had given of
his good-will to him; and instanced in the hondratthad been done him,
which yet had not been done, had he not deservem thy his virtuous
concern about him; for that he had made provismnelery thing that was
fit to be foreseen beforehand, as to giving him wsest advice; and
whenever there was occasion for the labor of his dands, he had not
grudged any such pains for him. And that it wasaaimmpossible that he,
who had delivered his father from so many treaalnercontrivances laid
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against him, should be himself in a plot againsh,hand so lose all the

reputation he had gained for his virtue, by hiskegness which succeeded
it; and this while he had nothing to prohibit hiwho was already appointed
his successor, to enjoy the royal honor with hikda also at present; and
that there was no likelihood that a person who tied one half of that

authority without any danger, and with a good cbia should hunt after

the whole with infamy and danger, and this whemas doubtful whether he

could obtain it or not; and when he saw the sadngka of his brethren

before him, and was both the informer and the amcagainst them, at a
time when they might not otherwise have been disca¥, nay, was the

author of the punishment inflicted upon them, wilieappeared evidently

that they were guilty of a wicked attempt agaimgirt father; and that even
the contentions there were in the king's family eviedications that he had
ever managed affairs out of the sincerest affecohis father. And as to

what he had done at Rome, Caesar was a witnestdh&rho yet was no

more to be imposed upon than God himself; of whos@ions his letters

sent hither are sufficient evidence; and that is wat reasonable to prefer
the calumnies of such as proposed to raise distadsabefore those letters;
the greatest part of which calumnies had been datkeing his absence,
which gave scope to his enemies to forge them, wthiey had not been able
to do if he had been there. Moreover he showedwbakness of the

evidence obtained by torture, which was commonlisefa because the
distress men are in under such tortures naturdliges them to say many
things in order to please those that govern theenaldo offered himself to

the torture.

5. Hereupon there was a change observed in thenbBsewhile they
greatly pitied Antipater, who by weeping and pugtion a countenance
suitable to his sad case made them commiseratathe, insomuch that his
very enemies were moved to compassion; and it apgedainly that Herod
himself was affected in his own mind, although heswot willing it should
be taken notice of. Then did Nicolaus begin to pcose what the king had

20



begun, and that with great bitterness; and summealluhe evidence which
arose from the tortures, or from the testimonies.pgrincipally and largely
cried up the king's virtues, which he had exhibitedhe maintenance and
education of his sons; while he never could gawy aavantage thereby, but
still fell from one misfortune to another. Althougle owned that he was not
so much surprised with that thoughtless behaviohisfformer sons, who
were but young, and were besides corrupted by wickenselors, who were
the occasion of their wiping out of their minds thghteous dictates of
nature, and this out of a desire of coming to tteegnment sooner than they
ought to do; yet that he could not but justly staamdazed at the horrid
wickedness of Antipater, who, although he had midy ®nad great benefits
bestowed on him by his father, enough to tame dasan, yet could not be
more tamed than the most envenomed serpents; vehevea those creatures
admit of some mitigation, and will not bite thegr®efactors, while Antipater
hath not let the misfortunes of his brethren be langerance to him, but he
hath gone on to imitate their barbarity notwithsliag. "Yet wast thou, O
Antipater! (as thou hast thyself confessed,) tHermer as to what wicked
actions they had done, and the searcher out @vigence against them, and
the author of the punishment they underwent upeir ttetection. Nor do we
say this as accusing thee for being so zealousyimnger against them, but
are astonished at thy endeavors to imitate thefligate behavior; and we
discover thereby that thou didst not act thus fer $afety of thy father, but
for the destruction of thy brethren, that by suahismie hatred of their
impiety thou mightest be believed a lover of thth&, and mightest thereby
get thee power enough to do mischief with the @staimpunity; which
design thy actions indeed demonstrate. It is ttiey tookest thy brethren
off, because thou didst convict theft of their wvadkdesigns; but thou didst
not yield up to justice those who were their partnand thereby didst make
it evident to all men that thou madest a covenaith them against thy
father, when thou chosest to be the accuser obththren, as desirous to
gain to thyself alone this advantage of laying plotkill thy father, and so to
enjoy double pleasure, which is truly worthy of thvil disposition, which
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thou has openly showed against thy brethren; orchwhccount thou didst
rejoice, as having done a most famous exploit, was that behavior
unworthy of thee. But if thy intention were othes&j thou art worse than
they: while thou didst contrive to hide thy treaghagainst thy father, thou
didst hate them, not as plotters against thy fatteerin that case thou hadst
not thyself fallen upon the like crime, but as ®ssors of his dominions,
and more worthy of that succession than thyselbuliwouldst kill thy father
after thy brethren, lest thy lies raised againstrtmight be detected; and lest
thou shouldst suffer what punishment thou hadstreesdl, thou hadst a mind
to exact that punishment of thy unhappy father, diddt devise such a sort
of uncommon parricide as the world never yet saw.tRou who art his son
didst not only lay a treacherous design againstfatiyer, and didst it while
he loved thee, and had been thy benefactor, hack e in reality his
partner in the kingdom, and had openly declaree this successor, while
thou wast not forbidden to taste the sweetnessthbaty already, and hadst
the firm hope of what was future by thy father'sedmination, and the
security of a written testament; but, for certdaimgu didst not measure these
things according to thy father's various dispositiout according to thy own
thoughts and inclinations; and was desirous to thkepart that remained
away from thy too indulgent father, and soughtesti¢stroy him with thy
deeds, whom thou in words pretendedst to presilmewast thou content to
be wicked thyself, but thou filledst thy mothersad with thy devices, and
raised disturbances among thy brethren, and hhdsbaldness to call thy
father a wild beast; while thou hadst thyself a anmore cruel than any
serpent, whence thou sentest out that poison ainigngearest kindred and
greatest benefactors, and invitedst them to asss and guard thee, and
didst hedge thyself in on all sides, by the arisiof both men and women,
against an old man, as though that mind of thing med sufficient of itself to
support so great a hatred as thou baredst to himd. ere thou appearest,
after the tortures of free-men, of domestics, ohraed women, which have
been examined on thy account, and after the infooms of thy fellow
conspirators, as making haste to contradict thdh;trand hast thought on
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ways not only how to take thy father out of the Mpbut to disannul that
written law which is against thee, and the virtdid/arus, and the nature of
justice; nay, such is that impudence of thine onctwithou confidest, that
thou desirest to be put to the torture thyself, levhihou allegest that the
tortures of those already examined thereby haveenthem tell lies; that

those that have been the deliverers of thy fathey not be allowed to have
spoken the truth; but that thy tortures may beesstsl the discoverers of
truth. Wilt not thou, O Varus! deliver the king frothe injuries of his

kindred? Wilt not thou destroy this wicked wild lseavhich hath pretended
kindness to his father, in order to destroy highyen; while yet he is himself
alone ready to carry off the kingdom immediatelgd aappears to be the
most bloody butcher to him of them all? for thotissansible that parricide is
a general injury both to nature and to common bfed that the intention of
parricide is not inferior to its perpetration; ané who does not punish it is
injurious to nature itself."

6. Nicolaus added further what belonged to Antipatenother, and
whatsoever she had prattled like a woman; as deatahe predictions and
the sacrifices relating to the king; and whatsoedatipater had done
lasciviously in his cups and his amours among Rhsl® women; the
examination upon torture; and whatsoever concethedestimonies of the
witnesses, which were many, and of various kindsmes prepared
beforehand, and others were sudden answers, whithef declared and
confirmed the foregoing evidence. For those men wkee not acquainted
with Antipater's practices, but had concealed tbhebof fear, when they saw
that he was exposed to the accusations of the fonnteesses, and that his
great good fortune, which had supported him hithelnad now evidently
betrayed him into the hands of his enemies, whe@werv insatiable in their
hatred to him, told all they knew of him. And hisrr was now hastened, not
so much by the enmity of those that were his agsyuse by his gross, and
impudent, and wicked contrivances, and by his ill-to his father and his
brethren; while he had filled their house with disance, and caused them
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to murder one another; and was neither fair inhaged, nor kind in his
friendship, but just so far as served his own tiNow there were a great
number who for a long time beforehand had seethiall and especially such
as were naturally disposed to judge of mattershkeyrtiles of virtue, because
they were used to determine about affairs withcagspn, but had been
restrained from making any open complaints beftrese, upon the leave
now given them, produced all that they knew beftire public. The
demonstrations also of these wicked facts couldway be disproved,
because the many witnesses there were did neigeaksout of favor to
Herod, nor were they obliged to keep what they ttaday silent, out of
suspicion of any danger they were in; but they spakat they knew,
because they thought such actions very wicked,tlaaidAntipater deserved
the greatest punishment; and indeed not so muckdood's safety, as on
account of the man's own wickedness. Many thinggwkso said, and those
by a great number of persons, who were no way eblitp say them,
insomuch that Antipater, who used generally to beyshrewd in his lies
and impudence, was not able to say one word todhtrary. When Nicolaus
had left off speaking, and had produced the evideWarus bid Antipater to
betake himself to the making his defense, if he pespared any thing
whereby it might appear that he was not guiltyn&f trimes he was accused
of; for that, as he was himself desirous, so didrnew that his father was in
like manner desirous also, to have him found dgtirmocent. But Antipater
fell down on his face, and appealed to God andl tmen for testimonials of
his innocency, desiring that God would declarestye evident signals, that
he had not laid any plot against his father. Tlemt the usual method of all
men destitute of virtue, that when they set abaowyt wicked undertakings,
they fall to work according to their own inclinati® as if they believed that
God was unconcerned in human affairs; but when ¢meg are found out,
and are in danger of undergoing the punishmenttdudeir crimes, they
endeavor to overthrow all the evidence against thgnappealing to God;
which was the very thing which Antipater now didr tvhereas he had done
everything as if there were no God in the worldewtne was on all sides
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distressed by justice, and when he had no othexrddge to expect from any
legal proofs, by which he might disprove the actinosa laid against him, he
impudently abused the majesty of God, and asciribbexhis power that he
had been preserved hitherto; and produced befera &l what difficulties
he had ever undergone in his bold acting for hisefias preservation.

7. So when Varus, upon asking Antipater what hetbaay for himself,
found that he had nothing to say besides his apjee@&od, and saw that
there was no end of that, he bid them bring théopdiefore the court, that
he might see what virtue still remained in it; amden it was brought, and
one that was condemned to die had drank it by Vamrmmmand, he died
presently. Then Varus got up, and departed out@fcourt, and went away
the day following to Antioch, where his usual re&side was, because that
was the palace of the Syrians; upon which Heradl és son in bonds. But
what were Varus's discourses to Herod was not krtovthe generality, and
upon what words it was that he went away; thougWat also generally
supposed that whatsoever Herod did afterward aigsuton was done with
his approbation. But when Herod had bound his Bersent letters to Rome
to Caesar about him, and such messengers withah@sd, by word of
mouth, inform Caesar of Antipater's wickedness. Nawhis very time there
was seized a letter of Antiphilus, written to Aratipr out of Egypt (for he
lived there); and when it was opened by the kibhgyas found to contain
what follows: "I have sent thee Acme's letter, amdarded my own life; for
thou knowest that | am in danger from two familids, be discovered. |
wish thee good success in thy affair." These weeecontents of this letter;
but the king made inquiry about the other letteoalfor it did not appear;
and Antiphilus's slave, who brought that letter abhhad been read, denied
that he had received the other. But while the kiag in doubt about it, one
of Herod's friends seeing a seam upon the inner abthe slave, and a
doubling of the cloth, (for he had two coats org) duessed that the letter
might be within that doubling; which accordinglyoped to be true. So they
took out the letter, and its contents were the8enie to Antipater. | have
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written such a letter to thy father as thou destrade. | have also taken a
copy and sent it, as if it came from Salome, tolady [Livia]; which, when
thou readest, | know that Herod Will punish Saloras, plotting against
him?' Now this pretended letter of Salome to hely lvas composed by
Antipater, in the name of Salome, as to its meaning in the words of
Acme. The letter was this: "Acme to king Herod.avb done my endeavor
that nothing that is done against thee should beaaled from thee. So,
upon my finding a letter of Salome written to myyaagainst thee, | have
written out a copy, and sent it to thee; with hdztr myself, but for thy
advantage. The reason why she wrote it was thed,dfhe had a mind to be
married to Sylleus. Do thou therefore tear thitelein pieces, that | may not
come into danger of my life." Now Acme had writtenAntipater himself,
and informed him, that, in compliance with his coamd, she had both
herself written to Herod, as if Salome had laididden plot entirely against
him, and had herself sent a copy of an epistlepasng from Salome to her
lady. Now Acme was a Jew by birth, and a servantul@a, Caesar's wife;
and did this out of her friendship for Antipates, l@aving been corrupted by
him with a large present of money, to assist ing@micious designs against
his father and his aunt.

8. Hereupon Herod was so amazed at the prodigidokedness of
Antipater, that he was ready to have ordered hifmetglain immediately, as
a turbulent person in the most important conceand, as one that had laid a
plot not only against himself, but against hisesistlso, and even corrupted
Caesar's own domestics. Salome also provoked hitnheating her breast,
and bidding him kill her, if he could produce amgdible testimony that she
had acted in that manner. Herod also sent fordmns and asked him about
this matter, and bid him contradict if he coulddarot suppress any thing he
had to say for himself; and when he had not onelworsay, he asked him,
since he was every way caught in his villainy, tmatwould make no further
delay, but discover his associates in these hikegidesigns. So he laid all
upon Antiphilus, but discovered nobody else. Heosuplerod was in such
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great grief, that he was ready to send his sorotodto Caesar, there to give
an account of these his wicked contrivances. Butdmn became afraid, lest
he might there, by the assistance of his frienssage the danger he was in;
so he kept him bound as before, and sent more aathais and letters [to

Rome] to accuse his son, and an account of whest@sse Acme had given

him in his wicked designs, with copies of the dpsbefore mentioned.

27



Chapter 6

The Disease That Herod Fell Into

1. Now Herod's ambassadors made haste to Romsebytas instructed
beforehand, what answers they were to make to tiestpns put to them.
They also carried the epistles with them. But Heromv fell into a
distemper, and made his will, and bequeathed Imgdam to [Antipas], his
youngest son; and this out of that hatred to Amirgland Philip, which the
calumnies of Antipater had raised against them. alt® bequeathed .a
thousand talents to Caesar, and five hundred ta,JGlesar's wife, to
Caesar's children, and friends and freed-men. Bie dibtributed among his
sons and their sons his money, his revenues, anthhils. He also made
Salome his sister very rich, because she had emdifaithful to him in all
his circumstances, and was never so rash as tondary harm; and as he
despaired of recovering, for he was about the s@thrnyear of his age, he
grew fierce, and indulged the bitterest anger uglbroccasions; the cause
whereof was this, that he thought himself despised, that the nation was
pleased with his misfortunes; besides which, hentesl a sedition which
some of the lower sort of men excited against hhm, occasion of which
was as follows.

2. There was one Judas, the son of Saripheus, atithilk, the son of
Margalothus, two of the most eloquent men amongJéwes, and the most
celebrated interpreters of the Jewish laws, and melh beloved by the
people, because of their education of their yo@idh;all those that were
studious of virtue frequented their lectures ewday. These men, when they
found that the king's distemper was incurable, tegcthe young men that
they would pull down all those works which the kimad erected contrary to
the law of their fathers, and thereby obtain thearels which the law will
confer on them for such actions of piety; for thawvas truly on account of
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Herod's rashness in making such things as the kdvforbidden, that his
other misfortunes, and this distemper also, whi@s wo unusual among
mankind, and with which he was now afflicted, canp®n him; for Herod
had caused such things to be made which were cgritrahe law, of which
he was accused by Judas and Matthias; for the lkauyerected over the
great gate of the temple a large golden eagle, redtgvalue, and had
dedicated it to the temple. Now the law forbidssendhat propose to live
according to it, to erect images (1) or represematof any living creature.
So these wise men persuaded [their scholars] tadpuin the golden eagle;
alleging, that although they should incur any dang&ich might bring them
to their deaths, the virtue of the action now psmzbto them would appear
much more advantageous to them than the pleastliés; since they would
die for the preservation and observation of thed&their fathers; since they
would also acquire an everlasting fame and comniemgaince they would
be both commended by the present generation, ave l@n example of life
that would never be forgotten to posterity; sinicattcommon calamity of
dying cannot be avoided by our living so as to peany such dangers; that
therefore it is a right thing for those who ardame with a virtuous conduct,
to wait for that fatal hour by such behavior as ncayry them out of the
world with praise and honor; and that this willeadlate death to a great
degree, thus to come at it by the performance afdmactions, which bring
us into danger of it; and at the same time to léhaereputation behind them
to their children, and to all their relations, wh&t they be men or women,
which will be of great advantage to them afterward.

3. And with such discourses as this did these meritesthe young men
to this action; and a report being come to them tth@ king was dead, this
was an addition to the wise men's persuasionsndbge very middle of the
day, they got upon the place, they pulled down dhgle, and cut it into
pieces with axes, while a great number of the peo@re in the temple. And
now the king's captain, upon hearing what the ua#arg was, and
supposing it was a thing of a higher nature thapravved to be, came up
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thither, having a great band of soldiers with hguch as was sufficient to
put a stop to the multitude of those who pulled damhat was dedicated to
God; so he fell upon them unexpectedly, and as tene upon this bold
attempt, in a foolish presumption rather than aioaa circumspection, as is
usual with the multitude, and while they were isatder, and incautious of
what was for their advantage; so he caught no fefzer forty of the young
men, who had the courage to stay behind when tterae away, together
with the authors of this bold attempt, Judas anditivas, who thought it an
ignominious thing to retire upon his approach, kadthem to the king. And
when they were come to the king, and he asked tlheéhey had been so
bold as to pull down what he had dedicated to G¥ds, (said they,) what
was contrived we contrived, and what hath beeroped we performed it,
and that with such a virtuous courage as becomes foewe have given
our assistance to those things which were dedidaté¢de majesty of God,
and we have provided for what we have learned layihg the law; and it
ought not to be wondered at, if we esteem those lavich Moses had
suggested to him, and were taught him by God, damdhahe wrote and left
behind him, more worthy of observation than thy omnds. Accordingly
we will undergo death, and all sorts of punishmevitgch thou canst inflict
upon us, with pleasure, since we are consciousiteetves that we shall die,
not for any unrighteous actions, but for our logeaeligion." And thus they
all said, and their courage was still equal tortpenfession, and equal to that
with which they readily set about this undertakidgd when the king had
ordered them to be bound, he sent them to Jerar,called together the
principal men among the Jews; and when they wengectne made them
assemble in the theater, and because he couldmstlfistand, he lay upon
a couch, and enumerated the many labors that héohgdendured on their
account, and his building of the temple, and whaast charge that was to
him; while the Asamoneans, during the hundred avehty-five years of
their government, had not been able to performsmngreat a work for the
honor of God as that was; that he had also adoitnegth very valuable
donations, on which account he hoped that he Hadhilmself a memorial,
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and procured himself a reputation after his deblth.then cried out, that
these men had not abstained from affronting hingnew his lifetime, but
that in the very day time, and in the sight of theltitude, they had abused
him to that degree, as to fall upon what he hadcased, and in that way of
abuse had pulled it down to the ground. They posdnindeed, that they did
it to affront him; but if any one consider the thitruly, they will find that
they were guilty of sacrilege against God therein.

4. But the people, on account of Herod's barbatenper, and for fear
he should be so cruel and to inflict punishmentram, said what was done
was done without their approbation, and that itnss@ to them that the
actors might well be punished for what they hadeddsut as for Herod, he
dealt more mildly with others [of the assembly] Inat deprived Matthias of
the high priesthood, as in part an occasion of dleton, and made Joazar,
who was Matthias's wife's brother, high priest i $tead. Now it happened,
that during the time of the high priesthood of tMiatthias, there was another
person made high priest for a single day, that \aéay which the Jews
observed as a fast. The occasion was this: ThishMatthe high priest, on
the night before that day when the fast was to ddlebcated, seemed, in a
dream, (2) to have conversation with his wife; detause he could not
officiate himself on that account, Joseph, the gbk&llemus, his kinsman,
assisted him in that sacred office. But Herod degatithis Matthias of the
high priesthood, and burnt the other Matthias, Wwhd raised the sedition,
with his companions, alive. And that very nightréh@as an eclipse of the
moon. (3)

5. But now Herod's distemper greatly increased uponafter a severe
manner, and this by God's judgment upon him forshis; for a fire glowed
in him slowly, which did not so much appear to thach outwardly, as it
augmented his pains inwardly; for it brought upam la vehement appetite
to eating, which he could not avoid to supply wotie sort of food or other.
His entrails were also ex-ulcerated, and the ch@énce of his pain lay on
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his colon; an aqueous and transparent liquor adsbslettled itself about his
feet, and a like matter afflicted him at the bottofrhis belly. Nay, further,
his privy-member was putrefied, and produced worargl when he sat
upright, he had a difficulty of breathing, which svaery loathsome, on
account of the stench of his breath, and the geis&rof its returns; he had
also convulsions in all parts of his body, whickragased his strength to an
insufferable degree. It was said by those who pdkd to divine, and who
were endued with wisdom to foretell such thingsttsod inflicted this
punishment on the king on account of his great atypiyet was he still in
hopes of recovering, though his afflictions seengedater than any one
could bear. He also sent for physicians, and didrefuse to follow what
they prescribed for his assistance, and went beybadiver Jordan, and
bathed himself in the warm baths that were at €latle, which, besides their
other general virtues, were also fit to drink; whiwater runs into the lake
called Asphaltiris. And when the physicians onceutfht fit to have him
bathed in a vessel full of oll, it was supposed tewas just dying; but upon
the lamentable cries of his domestics, he revieadt having no longer the
least hopes of recovering, he gave order that eselyier should be paid
fifty drachmae; and he also gave a great dealdiv tommanders, and to his
friends, and came again to Jericho, where he goewhsleric, that it brought
him to do all things like a madman; and though leEeanear his death, he
contrived the following wicked designs. He commahtieat all the principal
men of the entire Jewish nation, wheresoever tiveyl| should be called to
him. Accordingly, they were a great number that eabecause the whole
nation was called, and all men heard of this ealfl death was the penalty of
such as should despise the epistles that weraseatl them. And now the
king was in a wild rage against them all, the iremdcas well as those that
had afforded ground for accusations; and when teye come, he ordered
them to be all shut up in the hyppodrome, (4) aaxt for his sister Salome,
and her husband Alexas, and spake thus to thesmall die in a little time,
SO great are my pains; which death ought to bertiibeborne, and to be
welcomed by all men; but what principally troubtas is this, that | shall die
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without being lamented, and without such mourniagren usually expect at
a king's death. For that he was not unacquaintddttwe temper of the Jews,
that his death would be a thing very desirable, @medingly acceptable to
them, because during his lifetime they were readyevolt from him, and to
abuse the donations he had dedicated to God thaenefore was their
business to resolve to afford him some alleviatbrhis great sorrows on
this occasion; for that if they do not refuse hineit consent in what he
desires, he shall have a great mourning at hisréinend such as never had
any king before him; for then the whole nation wbaiourn from their very
soul, which otherwise would be done in sport ana¢keoy only. He desired
therefore, that as soon as they see he hath gvémewghost, they shall place
soldiers round the hippodrome, while they do naivkrithat he is dead; and
that they shall not declare his death to the nudéttill this is done, but that
they shall give orders to have those that are stocly shot with their darts;
and that this slaughter of them all will cause tmatshall not miss to rejoice
on a double account; that as he is dying, they mdke him secure that his
will shall be executed in what he charges themapasd that he shall have
the honor of a memorable mourning at his funeral. ® deplored his
condition, with tears in his eyes, and obtestedtbg the kindness due from
them, as of his kindred, and by the faith they owedsod, and begged of
them that they would not hinder him of this hondeamourning at his
funeral. So they promised him not to transgressdimsmands.

6. Now any one may easily discover the temper o than's mind,
which not only took pleasure in doing what he hadealformerly against his
relations, out of the love of life, but by thosammmands of his which savored
of no humanity; since he took care, when he wasdieg out of this life,
that the whole nation should be put into mournenyy indeed made desolate
of their dearest kindred, when he gave order tim& out of every family
should be slain, although they had done nothingwl@es unjust, or that was
against him, nor were they accused of any othenesj while it is usual for
those who have any regard to virtue to lay asie# thatred at such a time,
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even with respect to those they justly esteemad ¢nemies.

Footnotes:

1.

2.

That the making of images, without an intentionmorship them, was
not unlawful to the Jews, see the note on Anti¥IB ch. 7. sect. 5.
This fact, that one Joseph was made high priesafsmgle day, on
occasion of the action here specified, that béfitthias, the real high
priest, in his sleep, the night before the grestafaexpiation, is attested
to both in the Mishna and Talmud, as Dr. Hudsore lieforms us. And
indeed, from this fact, thus fully attested, we ncanfute that pretended
rule in the Talmud here mentioned, and endeavardoetexcused lay
Reland, that the high priest was not suffered éeslthe night before
that great day of expiation; which watching wouldedy rather unfit
him for the many important duties he was to perfamthat solemn
day, than dispose him duly to perform them. Norsdoh Talmudical
rules, when unsupported by better evidence, mucks levhen
contradicted there by, seem to me of weight endogtleserve that so
great a man as Reland should spend his time inagonde at their
vindication.

. This eclipse of the moon (which is the only eclipdeeither of the

luminaries mentioned by our Josephus in any ofwrisngs) is of the

greatest consequence for the determination ofithe for the death of
Herod and Antipater, and for the birth and entineonology of Jesus
Christ. It happened March 13th, in the year of Jnéan period 4710,
and the 4th year before the Christian era. Sesltsilation by the rules
of astronomy, at the end of the Astronomical Lestuedit. Lat. p. 451,
452.

4. A place for the horse-races.
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Chapter 7

Herod Orders Antipater to Be Slain

1. As he was giving these commands to his relatithese came letters
from his ambassadors, who had been sent to RormeQdassar, which, when
they were read, their purport was this: That Acnas wlain by Caesar, out of
his indignation at what hand, she had in Antipatericked practices; and
that as to Antipater himself, Caesar left it to étkto act as became a father
and a king, and either to banish him, or to takewawis life, which he
pleased. When Herod heard this, he was some-wh#trbeut of the
pleasure he had from the contents of the letteid waas elevated at the death
of Acme, and at the power that was given him oversbn; but as his pains
were become very great, he was now ready to famivant of somewhat to
eat; so he called for an apple and a knife; favas his custom formerly to
pare the apple himself, and soon afterwards tat,cand eat it. When he had
got the knife, he looked about, and had a mindab kimself with it; and he
had done it, had not his first cousin, Achiabugvpnted him, and held his
hand, and cried out loudly. Whereupon a woeful lataigon echoed through
the palace, and a great tumult was made, as ikitigg were dead. Upon
which Antipater, who verily believed his father wdesceased, grew bold in
his discourse, as hoping to be immediately andrentreleased from his
bonds, and to take the kingdom into his hands witlamy more ado; so he
discoursed with the jailer about letting him godam that case promised him
great things, both now and hereafter, as if thatewke only thing now in
guestion. But the jailer did not only refuse towlleat Antipater would have
him, but informed the king of his intentions, andhhmany solicitations he
had had from him [of that nature]. Hereupon Henatlp had formerly no
affection nor good-will towards his son to restrim, when he heard what
the jailer said, he cried out, and beat his hedlpagh he was at death's
door, and raised himself upon his elbow, and smnédme of his guards, and
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commanded them to kill Antipater without tiny fugthdelay, and to do it
presently, and to bury him in an ignoble mannédtiyatania.
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Chapter 8

Herod's Death

1. And now Herod altered his testament upon trexation of his mind;
for he appointed Antipas, to whom he had beforé tleé kingdom, to be
tetrarch of Galilee and Perea, and granted thedkimgto Archclaus. He also
gave Gaulonitis, and Trachonitis, and Paneas tlippPhiho was his son, but
own brother to Archclaus (1) by the name of a tetrg; and bequeathed
Jarnnia, and Ashdod, and Phasaelis to Salome ster,swith five hundred
thousand [drachmae] of silver that was coined. lde anade provision for
all the rest of his kindred, by giving them sums mbney and annual
revenues, and so left them all in a wealthy cooditHe bequeathed also to
Caesar ten millions [of drachmae] of coined morimsides both vessels of
gold and silver, and garments exceeding costlyut@, Caesar's wife; and to
certain others, five millions. When he had dones¢hthings, he died, the
fifth day after he had caused Antipater to be slhaving reigned, since he
had procured Antigonus to be slain, thirty-four ngedout since he had been
declared king by the Romans, thirty-seven. (2) Annie was of great
barbarity towards all men equally, and a slaveisoplassion; but above the
consideration of what was right; yet was he favdsgdortune as much as
any man ever was, for from a private man he beakiag; and though he
were encompassed with ten thousand dangers, hdegwtof them all, and
continued his life till a very old age. But thers, ta the affairs of his family
and children, in which indeed, according to his owginion, he was also
very fortunate, because he was able to conqueeimsnies, yet, in my
opinion, he was herein very unfortunate.

2. But then Salome and Alexas, before the kingathdevas made

known, dismissed those that were shut up in thpddpme, and told them
that the king ordered them to go away to their dands, and take care of
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their own affairs, which was esteemed by the natigmeat benefit. And now
the king's death was made public, when Salome dedad gathered the
soldiery together in the amphitheater at Jericimot the first thing they did
was, they read Herod's letter, written to the smidithanking them for their
fidelity and good-will to him, and exhorting theno tafford his son

Archelaus, whom he had appointed for their kirkg lidelity and good-will.

After which Ptolemy, who had the king's seal intedsto him, read the
king's testament, which was to be of force no atis® than as it should
stand when Caesar had inspected it; so there vesemty an acclamation
made to Archelaus, as king; and the soldiers cagnddnds, and their
commanders with them, and promised the same golbdavihim, and

readiness to serve him, which they had exhibitedeood; and they prayed
God to be assistant to him.

3. After this was over, they prepared for his faheit being Archelaus's
care that the procession to his father's sepulsheuld be very sumptuous.
Accordingly, he brought out all his ornaments tomradthe pomp of the
funeral. The body was carried upon a golden biehreidered with very
precious stones of great variety, and it was calvexer with purple, as well
as the body itself; he had a diadem upon his haad,above it a crown of
gold: he also had a scepter in his right hand. Aboeibier were his sons and
his numerous relations; next to these was the ewgididistinguished
according to their several countries and denononatiand they were put
into the following order: First of all went his gus, then the band of
Thracians, and after them the Germans; and nexighd of Galatians, every
one in their habiliments of war; and behind thes&amed the whole army in
the same manner as they used to go out to warasititey used to be put in
array by their muster-masters and centurions; theme followed by five
hundred of his domestics carrying spices. So thegtwight furlongs (3) to
Herodium; for there by his own command he was tbddreed. And thus did
Herod end his life.
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4. Now Archelaus paid him so much respect, as totimoe his
mourning till the seventh day; for so many days appointed for it by the
law of our fathers. And when he had given a treahte multitude, and left
off his motoring, he went up into the temple; hel ladso acclamations and
praises given him, which way soever he went, eway striving with the
rest who should appear to use the loudest acclansatSo he ascended a
high elevation made for him, and took his seag throne made of gold, and
spake kindly to the multitude, and declared withatjoy he received their
acclamations, and the marks of the good-will thepwsed to him; and
returned them thanks that they did not remembeirjueies his father had
done them to his disadvantage; and promised thewoléd endeavor not to
be behindhand with them in rewarding their alacnityhis service, after a
suitable manner; but that he should abstain aeptdsom the name of king,
and that he should have the honor of that digmitaesar should confirm
and settle that testament which his father had mad@ that it was on this
account, that when the army would have put theairadn him at Jericho, he
would not accept of that honor, which is usuallynsach desired, because it
was not yet evident that he who was to be printyipabncerned in
bestowing it would give it him; although, by his captance of the
government, he should not want the ability of reduag their kindness to
him and that it should be his endeavor, as tohatigs wherein they were
concerned, to prove in every respect better tharfdther. Whereupon the
multitude, as it is usual with them, supposed thatfirst days of those that
enter upon such governments declare the intentidnthose that accept
them; and so by how much Archelaus spake the mendygand civilly to
them, by so much did they more highly commend l@ind made application
to him for the grant of what they desired. Some enaa@lamor that he would
ease them of some of their annual payments; bwtretdesired him to
release those that were put into prison by Herdih were many, and had
been put there at several times; others of themined) that he would take
away those taxes which had been severely laid wi@at was publicly sold
and bought. So Archelaus contradicted them in ngthsince he pretended
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to do all things so as to get the good-will of theltitude to him, as looking
upon that good-will to be a great step towards fmgservation of the
government. Hereupon he went and offered sacitificeod, and then betook
himself to feast with his friends.

Footnotes:

1. When it is here said that Philip the tetrarch, amnchelaus the king, or
ethnarch, were own brother, or genuine brotherthae words mean
own brothers, or born of the same father and mpthere must be here
some mistake; because they had indeed the samer,fddlerod, but
different mothers; the former Cleopatra, and Arabsl Malthace. They
were indeed brought up together privately at Rokewhen he went to
have his kingdom confirmed to him at Rome, ch.e&t.s5; and Of the
War, B. Il. ch. 2. sect. 1; which intimacy is pgpeaall that Josephus
intended by the words before us.

2. These numbers of years for Herod's reign, 34 an&i&/the very same
with those, Of the War, B. I. ch. 33. sect. 8, anel among the principal
chronological characters belonging to the reigrdeath of Herod. See
Harm. p. 150--155.

3. At eight stadia or furlongs a-day, as here, Herdieral, conducted to
Herodium, which lay at the distance from Jerichbeve he died, of 200
stadia or furlongs, Of the War, B. 1. ch. 33. sB¢tmust have taken up
no less than twenty-five days.
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Chapter 9

The People Raised a Sedition Against Archelaus

1. At this time also it was that some of the Jewstggether out of a
desire of innovation. They lamented Matthias, drabé that were slain with
him by Herod, who had not any respect paid thera hyneral mourning, out
of the fear men were in of that man; they were ¢hogho had been
condemned for pulling down the golden eagle. Thepf®e made a great
clamor and lamentation hereupon, and cast out sepr®@aches against the
king also, as if that tended to alleviate the nméseof the deceased. The
people assembled together, and desired of Archelaalts in way of revenge
on their account, he would inflict punishment orosh who had been
honored by Herod; and that, in the first and ppatplace, he would deprive
that high priest whom Herod had made, and wouldosBoone more
agreeable to the law, and of greater purity, toc@ffe as high priest. This
was granted by Archelaus, although he was mightfifended at their
importunity, because he proposed to himself tog&dme immediately to
look after Caesar's determination about him. Howewe sent the general of
his forces to use persuasions, and to tell ther tte death which was
inflicted on their friends was according to the jaamd to represent to them
that their petitions about these things were carea great height of injury
to him; that the time was not now proper for suehitipns, but required their
unanimity until such time as he should be estabtisim the government by
the consent of Caesar, and should then be come tbaitlem; for that he
would then consult with them in common concernihg purport of their
petitions; but that they ought at present to beetjuest they should seem
seditious persons.

2. So when the king had suggested these things,irestdicted his
general in what he was to say, be sent him awéyet@eople; but they made
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a clamor, and would not give him leave to speakl, ut him in danger of
his life, and as many more as were desirous touvenipon saying openly
any thing which might reduce them to a sober mamd| prevent their going
on in their present courses, because they had aomeern to have all their
own wills performed than to yield obedience to tlyggivernors; thinking it to
be a thing insufferable, that, while Herod was &lithey should lose those
that were most dear to them, and that when he wad,dhey could not get
the actors to be punished. So they went on with tesigns after a violent
manner, and thought all to be lawful and right viahiended to please them,
and being unskillful in foreseeing what dangery timeurred; and when they
had suspicion of such a thing, yet did the prepédsure they took in the
punishment of those they deemed their enemies @ghwall such
considerations; and although Archelaus sent maspéak to them, yet they
treated them not as messengers sent by him, m&ragns that came of their
own accord to mitigate their anger, and would robhe of them speak. The
sedition also was made by such as were in a gasgign; and it was evident
that they were proceeding further in seditious ficas, by the multitude
running so fast upon them.

3. Now, upon the approach of that feast of unleasidmread, which the
law of their fathers had appointed for the Jewshet time, which feast is
called the Passover (1) and is a memorial of ttieiflverance out of Egypt,
when they offer sacrifices with great alacrity; amden they are required to
slay more sacrifices in number than at any othstivial; and when an
innumerable multitude came thither out of the coyntay, from beyond its
limits also, in order to worship God, the seditiolasnented Judas and
Matthias, those teachers of the laws, and kepthegén the temple, and had
plenty of food, because these seditious persons netr ashamed to beg it.
And as Archelaus was afraid lest some terribleghshould spring up by
means of these men's madness, he sent a regimanhefl men, and with
them a captain of a thousand, to suppress thentieléorts of the seditious
before the whole multitude should be infected wvilie like madness; and
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gave them this charge, that if they found any more openly seditious
than others, and more busy in tumultuous practites; should bring them
to him. But those that were seditious on accounho$e teachers of the law,
irritated the people by the noise and clamors thegd to encourage the
people in their designs; so they made an assaatit the soldiers, and came
up to them, and stoned the greatest part of thehgumh some of them ran
away wounded, and their captain among them; anch\ifrey had thus done,
they returned to the sacrifices which were alreadytheir hands. Now
Archelaus thought there was no way to preserveetiige government but
by cutting off those who made this attempt upomsatihe sent out the whole
army upon them, and sent the horsemen to prevese tthat had their tents
without the temple from assisting those that weithiw the temple, and to
kill such as ran away from the footmen when theutiht themselves out of
danger; which horsemen slew three thousand mere Wi rest went to the
neighboring mountains. Then did Archelaus ordeclamation to be made
to them all, that they should retire to their owontes; so they went away,
and left the festival, out of fear of somewhat veorshich would follow,
although they had been so bold by reason of thaimtvef instruction. So
Archelaus went down to the sea with his mother,tao@ with him Nicolaus
and Ptolemy, and many others of his friends, aftdFBilip his brother as
governor of all things belonging both to his owmfly and to the public.
There went out also with him Salome, Herod's sistien took with her, her
children, and many of her kindred were with her;ialhkindred of hers
went, as they pretended, to assist Archelaus inirggaithe kingdom, but in
reality to oppose him, and chiefly to make loud ptamts of what he had
done in the temple. But Sabinus, Caesar's stevaar&yrian affairs, as he
was making haste into Judea to preserve Hero@stseffmet with Archclaus
at Caesarea,; but Varus (president of Syria) cantieaattime, and restrained
him from meddling with them, for he was there ast $er by Archceaus, by
the means of Ptolemy. And Sabinus, out of regaMaiius, did neither seize
upon any of the castles that were among the Jewrsdid he seal up the
treasures in them, but permitted Archelaus to hiage, until Caesar should
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declare his resolution about them; so that, upatls promise, he tarried
still at Cesarea. But after Archelaus was sailedRome, and Varus was
removed to Antioch, Sabinus went to Jerusalem, seided on the king's
palace. He also sent for the keepers of the gasjsand for all those that
had the charge of Herod's effects, and declaredighutihat he should
require them to give an account of what they haudl be disposed of the
castles in the manner he pleased; but those whbtkem did not neglect
what Archelaus had given them in command, but ooetl to keep all things
in the manner that had been enjoined them; and pineiense was, that they
kept them all for Caesar,

4. At the same time also did Antipas, another ofddes sons, sail to
Rome, in order to gain the government; being buayedy Salome with
promises that he should take that government; &at he was a much
honester and fitter man than Archelaus for thabenityy, since Herod had, in
his former testament, deemed him the worthiest gontade king, which
ought to be esteemed more valid than his lattaiartesnt. Antipas also
brought with him his mother, and Ptolemy the brotbieNicolaus, one that
had been Herod's most honored friend, and was ealous for Antipas; but
it was Ireneus the orator, and one who, on accofrttis reputation for
sagacity, was intrusted with the affairs of thegkiom, who most of all
encouraged him to attempt to gain the kingdom; hpse means it was, that
when some advised him to yield to Archelaus, abkisoelder brother, and
who had been declared king by their father's lalét e would not submit so
to do. And when he was come to Rome, all his @hatirevolted to him; not
out of their good-will to him, but out of their matl to Archelaus; though
indeed they were most of all desirous of gainingjrthiberty, and to be put
under a Roman governor; but if there were too gamabpposition made to
that, they thought Antipas preferable to Archelauns] so joined with him, in
order to procure the kingdom for him. Sabinus alsp,letters, accused
Archelaus to Caesar.
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5. Now when Archelaus had sent in his papers tos&@&aavherein he
pleaded his right to. the kingdom, and his fathée'stament, with the
accounts of Herod's money, and with Ptolemy, wiought Herod's seal, he
so expected the event; but when Caesar had read pgapers, and Varus's
and Sabinus's letters, with the accounts of theeyoand what were the
annual incomes of the kingdom, and understood Aiméipas had also sent
letters to lay claim to the kingdom, he summonesl fnends together, to
know their opinions, and with them Caius, the sb\grippa, and of Julia
his daughter, whom he had adopted, and took hioh,n@ade him sit first of
all, and desired such as pleased to speak thenlsrabout the affairs now
before them. Now Antipater, Salome's son, a vebtlswrator, and a bitter
enemy to Archelaus, spake first to this purposeatTihwas ridiculous in
Archelaus to plead now to have the kingdom givam,since he had, in
reality, taken already the power over it to himsk#fore Caesar had granted
it to him; and appealed to those bold actions sf im destroying so many at
the Jewish festival, and if the men had acted tiyjug was but fit the
punishing of them should have been reserved tcetliost were out of the
country, but had the power to punish them, andoeenh executed by a man
that, if he pretended to be a king, he did an injorCaesar, by usurping that
authority before it was determined for him by Capdat if he owned
himself to be a private person, his case was mumisey since he who was
putting in for the kingdom could by no means expechave that power
granted him, of which he had already deprived Qa@s@a taking it to
himself]. He also touched sharply upon him, andeapgd to his changing
the commanders in the army, and his sitting inrthal throne beforehand,
and his determination of law-suits; all done aseaf were no other than a
king. He appealed also to his concessions to thusepetitioned him on a
public account, and indeed doing such things, thiaich he could devise no
greater if he had been already settled in the kongdy Caesar. He also
ascribed to him the releasing of the prisoners Wexie in the hippodrome,
and many other things, that either had been cértdione by him, or were
believed to be done, and easily might be believdtave been done, because
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they were of such a nature as to be usually dongbyg men, and by such
as, out of a desire of ruling, seize upon the gawent too soon. He also
charged him with his neglect of the funeral mougriior his father, and with
having merry meetings the very night in which heddiand that it was
thence the multitude took the handle of raisingi@mult: and if Archelaus
could thus requite his dead father, who had bestosiveh benefits upon
him, and bequeathed such great things to him, éiepding to shed tears for
him in the day time, like an actor on the stage,dmery night making mirth
for having gotten the government, he would appedretthe same Archelaus
with regard to Caesatr, if he granted him the kimgdevhich he hath been to
his father; since he had then dancing and singiaghough an enemy of his
were fallen, and not as though a man were caradust funeral, that was so
nearly related, and had been so great a benetachom. But he said that the
greatest crime of all was this, that he came noferbeCaesar to obtain the
government by his grant, while he had before anteall things as he could
have acted if Caesar himself, who ruled all, hagdi him firmly in the
government. And what he most aggravated in hisduhgawas the slaughter
of those about the temple, and the impiety ofstdane at the festival; and
how they were slain like sacrifices themselves, esoaf whom were
foreigners, and others of their own country, tiéttemple was full of dead
bodies: and all this was done, not by an alien,dyubne who pretended to
the lawful title of a king, that he might compldtee wicked tyranny which
his nature prompted him to, and which is hated byngn. On which
account his father never so much as dreamed ofngdkm his successor in
the kingdom, when he was of a sound mind, becawsekrrew his
disposition; and in his former and more authergstadment, he appointed his
antagonist Antipas to succeed; but that Archelaas @alled by his father to
that dignity when he was in a dying condition, boflbody and mind; while
Antipas was called when he was ripest in his judgimend of such strength
of body as made him capable of managing his owairaffand if his father
had the like notion of him formerly that he hathwnshowed, yet hath he
given a sufficient specimen what a king he is k&l be, when he hath [in
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effect] deprived Caesar of that power of disposihithe kingdom, which he
justly hath, and hath not abstained from makingralde slaughter of his
fellow citizens in the temple, while lie was buprvate person.

6. So when Antipater had made this speech, anactiattmed what he
had said by producing many witnesses from amonghdatis's own
relations, he made an end of his pleading. Uporthvhlicolaus arose up to
plead for Archelaus, and said, "That what had lub@me at the temple was
rather to be attributed to the mind of those thad been killed, than to the
authority of Archelaus; for that those who were dlaghors of such things are
not only wicked in the injuries they do of themssy but in forcing sober
persons to avenge themselves upon them. Now itideet that what these
did in way of opposition was done under pretensgged, against Archelaus,
but in reality against Caesar himself, for theyemlfan injurious manner,
attacked and slew those who were sent by Archemgwho came only to
put a stop to their doings. They had no regardieeito God or to the
festival, whom Antipater yet is not ashamed toquatze, whether it be out of
his indulgence of an enmity to Archelaus, or ouhsf hatred of virtue and
justice. For as to those who begin such tumultsl st set about such
unrighteous actions, they are the men who forceghbat punish them to
betake themselves to arms even against their Sollthat Antipater in effect
ascribes the rest of what was done to all those wiee of counsel to the
accusers; for nothing which is here accused ofstiga has been done but
what was derived from them as its authors; nor those things evil in
themselves, but so represented only in order teadim to Archelaus. Such is
these men's inclination to do an injury to a maat th of their kindred, their
father's benefactor, and familiarity acquaintechvitiem, and that hath ever
lived in friendship with them; for that, as to thestament, it was made by
the king when he was of a sound mind, and so ciogbé of more authority
than his former testament; and that for this reabenause Caesar is therein
left to be the judge and disposer of all thereintamed; and for Caesar, he
will not, to be sure, at all imitate the unjust pgedings of those men, who,
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during Herod's whole life, had on all occasionsno@int partakers of power
with him, and yet do zealously endeavor to injuie determination, while
they have not themselves had the same regard to Kimsman [which
Archelaus had]. Caesar will not therefore disarthel testament of a man
whom he had entirely supported, of his friend aodfederate, and that
which is committed to him in trust to ratify; nonlwCaesar's virtuous and
upright disposition, which is known and uncontestibdlough all the
habitable world, imitate the wickedness of these mmecondemning a king
as a madman, and as having lost his reason, waileath bequeathed the
succession to a good son of his, and to one wles flo Caesar's upright
determination for refuge. Nor can Herod at any timee been mistaken in
his judgment about a successor, while he showehisth prudence as to
submit all to Caesar's determination.”

7. Now when Nicolaus had laid these things befamedar, he ended his
plea; whereupon Caesar was so obliging to Archeldas he raised him up
when he had cast himself down at his feet, andtkaidhe well deserved the
kingdom; and he soon let them know that he wasasonbved in his favor,
that he would not act otherwise than his fathessaiment directed, and than
was for the advantage of Archelaus. However, whie gave this
encouragement to Archelaus to depend on him seggunel made no full
determination about him; and when the assembly iaken up, he
considered by himself whether he should confirmkimgdom to Archelaus,
or whether he should part it among all Herod's grityt and this because
they all stood in need of much assistance to suppem.

Footnote:

1. This passover, when the sedition here mentioned m@aged against
Archelaus, was not one, but thirteen months atter dclipse of the
moon already mentioned.
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Chapter 10

A Sedition Against Sabinus

1. But before these things could be brought totdeseent, Malthace,
Archelaus's mother, fell into a distemper, and didt; and letters came
from Varus, the president of Syria, which inform@desar of the revolt of
the Jews; for after Archlaus was sailed, the winalgon was in a tumult. So
Varus, since he was there himself, brought theaastbf the disturbance to
punishment; and when he had restrained them fomtbst part from this
sedition, which was a great one, he took his joptoeAntiocli, leaving one
legion of his army at Jerusalem to keep the Jewet,qwho were now very
fond of innovation. Yet did not this at all avadl put an end to that their
sedition; for after Varus was gone away, Sabinwedar's procurator, staid
behind, and greatly distressed the Jews, relyingherforces that were left
there that they would by their multitude protecinhifor he made use of
them, and armed them as his guards, thereby secesgpg the Jews, and
giving them so great disturbance, that at leng#y trebelled; for he used
force in seizing the citadels, and zealously prksse the search after the
king's money, in order to seize upon it by force,azcount of his love of
gain and his extraordinary covetousness.

2. But on the approach of pentecost, which is avi@sof ours, so called
from the days of our forefathers, a great manytte@usands of men got
together; nor did they come only to celebrate #sival, but out of their
indignation at the madness of Sabinus, and atjoees he offered them. A
great number there was of Galileans, and Idumeamd$, many men from
Jericho, and others who had passed over the wvdad, and inhabited those
parts. This whole multitude joined themselves tdled rest, and were more
zealous than the others in making an assault omn&abin order to be
avenged on him; so they parted themselves int@ thamds, and encamped
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themselves in the places following: - some of tremmed on the hippodrome
and of the other two bands, one pitched themséifoes the northern part of
the temple to the southern, on the east quartertneuthird band held the
western part of the city, where the king's pala@s.wlheir work tended
entirely to besiege the Romans, and to enclose tbenall sides. Now
Sabinus was afraid of these men's number, andeaf tsolution, who had
little regard to their lives, but were very dessawt to be overcome, while
they thought it a point of puissance to overconertenemies; so he sent
immediately a letter to Varus, and, as he usedtonads very pressing with
him, and entreated him to come quickly to his aase, because the forces
he had left were in imminent danger, and would pht¥s in no long time,
be seized upon, and cut to pieces; while he dicgiihget up to the highest
tower of the fortress Phasaelus, which had beehibunonor of Phasaelus,
king Herod's brother, and called so when the Pamthhad brought him to
his death. (1) So Sabinus gave thence a signabet&obmans to fall upon the
Jews, although he did not himself venture so musctoacome down to his
friends, and thought he might expect that the athshould expose
themselves first to die on account of his avaridewever, the Romans
ventured to make a sally out of the place, andrabte battle ensued,;
wherein, though it is true the Romans beat thereeghries, yet were not the
Jews daunted in their resolutions, even when they te sight of that
terrible slaughter that was made of them; but thept round about, and got
upon those cloisters which encompassed the outet abthe temple, where
a great fight was still continued, and they casha$ at the Romans, partly
with their hands, and partly with slings, as beimgich used to those
exercises. All the archers also in array did thanRes a great deal of
mischief, because they used their hands dexterdusty a place superior to
the others, and because the others were at anagtewhat to do; for when
they tried to shoot their arrows against the Jepvgands, these arrows could
not reach them, insomuch that the Jews were e#&sdyhard for their
enemies. And this sort of fight lasted a great ghiill at last the Romans,
who were greatly distressed by what was done,isettd the cloisters so

50



privately, that those that were gotten upon thetdnndit perceive it. This fire
(2) being fed by a great deal of combustible mattaught hold immediately
on the roof of the cloisters; so the wood, whichs i@l of pitch and wax,
and whose gold was laid on it with wax, yieldedtie flame presently, and
those vast works, which were of the highest valmel &steem, were
destroyed utterly, while those that were on thd toexpectedly perished at
the same time; for as the roof tumbled down, somth@se men tumbled
down with it, and others of them were killed by ithenemies who
encompassed them. There was a great number mooe,oarhof despair of
saving their lives, and out of astonishment at thisery that surrounded
them, did either cast themselves into the firehogw themselves upon their
swords, and so got out of their misery. But ashtisé that retired behind the
same way by which they ascended, and thereby esdctysy were all killed
by the Romans, as being unarmed men, and theiageuailing them; their
wild fury being now not able to help them, becatisey were destitute of
armor, insomuch that of those that went up to tdpedf the roof, not one
escaped. The Romans also rushed through the fiverent gave them room
so to do, and seized on that treasure where thedsawney was reposited; a
great part of which was stolen by the soldiers, 8allinus got openly four
hundred talents.

3. But this calamity of the Jews' friends, who fallthis battle, grieved
them, as did also this plundering of the money cidd to God in the
temple. Accordingly, that body of them which contal best together, and
was the most warlike, encompassed the palace,madténed to set fire to
it, and kill all that were in it. Yet still they comanded them to go out
presently, and promised, that if they would doteey would not hurt them,
nor Sabinus neither; at which time the greatest parthe king's troops
deserted to them, while Rufus and Gratus, who hagetthousand of the
most warlike of Herod's army with them, who werennwé active bodies,
went over to the Romans. There was also a bandoemen under the
command of Ruffis, which itself went over to thernkans also. However, the
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Jews went on with the siege, and dug mines undemp#iace walls, and
besought those that were gone over to the other smt to be their
hinderance, now they had such a proper opportémitthe recovery of their
country's ancient liberty; and for Sabinus, truly Wwas desirous of going
away with his soldiers, but was not able to trustdelf with the enemy, on
account of what mischief he had already done themd; he took this great
[pretended] lenity of theirs for an argument whydm®uld not comply with
them; and so, because he expected that Varus waisg,ohe still bore the
siege.

4. Now at this time there were ten thousand othsorders in Judea,
which were like tumults, because a great number tpaimselves into a
warlike posture, either out of hopes of gain tarteelves, or out of enmity to
the Jews. In particular, two thousand of Herodés saldiers, who had been
already disbanded, got together in Judea itsetf,fanght against the king's
troops, although Achiabus, Herod's first cousimaged them; but as he was
driven out of the plains into the mountainous pégsthe military skill of
those men, he kept himself in the fastnesses thet there, and saved what
he could.

5. There was also Judas, (3) the son of that Ezeki had been head
of the robbers; which Ezekias was a very strong,naaw had with great
dificulty been caught by Herod. This Judas, havguwiten together a
multitude of men of a profligate character aboyp@@mwris in Galilee, made
an assault upon the palace [there,] and seized alptdme weapons that were
laid up in it, and with them armed every one ofsiiathat were with him, and
carried away what money was left there; and herhedarrible to all men,
by tearing and rending those that came near hichadlrthis in order to raise
himself, and out of an ambitious desire of the falygnity; and he hoped to
obtain that as the reward not of his virtuous skill war, but of his
extravagance in doing injuries.
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6. There was also Simon, who had been a slave @fd+ee king, but in
other respects a comely person, of a tall and tobogdy; he was one that
was much superior to others of his order, and fagbgneat things committed
to his care. This man was elevated at the disgrdealte of things, and was
so bold as to put a diadem on his head, while @icenumber of the people
stood by him, and by them he was declared to bhagg &nd thought himself
more worthy of that dignity than any one else. Hgnb down the royal
palace at Jericho, and plundered what was left ida also set fire to many
other of the king's houses in several places of dbentry, and utterly
destroyed them, and permitted those that were hitthto take what was left
in them for a prey; and he would have done grdhiegs, unless care had
been taken to repress him immediately; for Gratisen he had joined
himself to some Roman soldiers, took the forcesid with him, and met
Simon, and after a great and a long fight, no smait of those that came
from Perea, who were a disordered body of men faunght rather in a bold
than in a skillful manner, were destroyed; and altth Simon had saved
himself by flying away through a certain valley,t y@ratus overtook him,
and cut off his head. The royal palace also at Aogtby the river Jordan,
was burnt down by a party of men that were got ttegye as were those
belonging to Simon. And thus did a great and wildy fspread itself over the
nation, because they had no king to keep the md#itin good order, and
because those foreigners who came to reduce titeasdo sobriety did, on
the contrary, set them more in a flame, becaudbeinjuries they offered
them, and the avaricious management of their affair

7. But because Athronges, a person neither eminetite dignity of his
progenitors, nor for any great wealth he was pa&skef, but one that had in
all respects been a shepherd only, and was not tkrimwany body; yet
because he was a tall man, and excelled othersisttength of his hands,
he was so bold as to set up for king. This mandhoit so sweet a thing to
do more than ordinary injuries to others, thatalth he should be killed, he
did not much care if he lost his life in so greatlesign. He had also four
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brethren, who were tall men themselves, and welievieel to be superior to
others in the strength of their hands, and thexebre encouraged to aim at
great things, and thought that strength of theimuldl support them in
retaining the kingdom. Each of these ruled ovealadbof men of their own;
for those that got together to them were very nou&rThey were every one
of them also commanders; but when they came tot,figiey were
subordinate to him, and fought for him, while hd pudiadem about his
head, and assembled a council to debate aboutthings should be done,
and all things were done according to his pleastinel. this man retained his
power a great while; he was also called king, aad mothing to hinder him
from doing what he pleased. He also, as well adbhaethren, slew a great
many both of the Romans and of the king's forcesnanaged matters with
the like hatred to each of them. The king's forttey fell upon, because of
the licentious conduct they had been allowed uktdzod's government; and
they fell upon the Romans, because of the injuheg had so lately received
from them. But in process of time they grew moneetito all sorts of men,
nor could any one escape from one or other of tlsesiions, since they
slew some out of the hopes of gain, and others feommere custom of
slaying men. They once attacked a company of Romartsmmaus, who
were bringing corn and weapons to the army, anduebn Arius, the
centurion, who commanded the company, and shoy fdfrthe best of his
foot soldiers; but the rest of them were aftright¢dheir slaughter, and left
their dead behind them, but saved themselves byndens of Gratus, who
came with the king's troops that were about hinthiir assistance. Now
these four brethren continued the war a long wlnle such sort of
expeditions, and much grieved the Romans; butltetr bwn nation also a
great deal of mischief. Yet were they afterwardsdsied; one of them in a
fight with Gratus, another with Ptolemy; Archelaaiso took the eldest of
them prisoner; while the last of them was so depkcat the other's
misfortune, and saw so plainly that he had no way teft to save himself,
his army being worn away with sickness and contitataors, that he also
delivered himself up to Archclaus, upon his promesel oath to God [to
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preserve his life.] But these things came to pagsoa while afterward.

8. And now Judea was full of robberies; and assthasral companies of
the seditious lighted upon any one to head themyag created a king
immediately, in order to do mischief to the publi©iey were in some small
measure indeed, and in small matters, hurtful @o0Rbmans; but the murders
they committed upon their own people lasted a \whe.

9. As soon as Varus was once informed of the statdudea by
Sabinus's writing to him, he was afraid for theideghe had left there; so he
took the two other legions, (for there were thregidns in all belonging to
Syria,) and four troops of horsemen, with the saivauxiliary forces which
either the kings or certain of the tetrarchs aféorthim, and made what haste
he could to assist those that were then besiegéddea. He also gave order
that all that were sent out for this expeditionowd make haste to
Ptolemais. The citizens of Berytus also gave hitedn hundred auxiliaries
as he passed through their city. Aretas also, ithg &f Arabia Petrea, out of
his hatred to Herod, and in order to purchase @verfof the Romans, sent
him no small assistance, besides their footmenhamsemen; and when he
had now collected all his forces together, he cameahipart of them to his
son, and to a friend of his, and sent them upomxgedition into Galilee,
which lies in the neighborhood of Ptolemais; whodman attack upon the
enemy, and put them to flight, and took Sepphamsl made its inhabitants
slaves, and burnt the city. But Varus himself padshis march for Samaria
with his whole army; yet did not he meddle with tti¢y of that name,
because it had not at all joined with the seditidug pitched his camp at a
certain village that belonged to Ptolemy, whose @amas Arus, which the
Arabians burnt, out of their hatred to Herod, ant af the enmity they bore
to his friends; whence they marched to anotheagd| whose name was
Sampho, which the Arabians plundered and burritpatih it was a fortified
and a strong place; and all along this march ngtescaped them, but all
places were full of fire and of slaughter. Emmauwsalso burnt by Varus's
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order, after its inhabitants had deserted it, ttmtmight avenge those that
had there been destroyed. From thence he now nthrtthelerusalem;
whereupon those Jews whose camp lay there, andhatiobesieged the
Roman legion, not bearing the coming of this arleft,the siege imperfect:
but as to the Jerusalem Jews, when Varus reprodhbkedbitterly for what
had been done, they cleared themselves of the atcmusand alleged that
the conflux of the people was occasioned by thetfe¢hat the war was not
made with their approbation, but by the rashnesh@fttrangers, while they
were on the side of the Romans, and besieged &getith them, rather than
having any inclination to besiege them. There alme beforehand to meet
Varus, Joseph, the cousin-german of king Herodlss Gratus and Rufus,
who brought their soldiers along with them, togethih those Romans who
had been besieged; but Sabinus did not come intos\&presence, but stole
out of the city privately, and went to the sea-side

10. Upon this, Varus sent a part of his army il ¢ountry, to seek out
those that had been the authors of the revoltydrah they were discovered,
he punished some of them that were most guilty, sorde he dismissed:
now the number of those that were crucified on @csount were two
thousand. After which he disbanded his army, winetound no way useful
to him in the affairs he came about; for they be&dhvhemselves very
disorderly, and disobeyed his orders, and what ¥dasired them to do, and
this out of regard to that gain which they madehms mischief they did. As
for himself, when he was informed that ten thousde@vs had gotten
together, he made haste to catch them; but theyatighroceed so far as to
fight him, but, by the advice of Achiabus, they @atagether, and delivered
themselves up to him: hereupon Varus forgave thmecof revolting to the
multitude, but sent their several commanders tos@aemany of whom
Caesar dismissed; but for the several relatiotdendbd who had been among
these men in this war, they were the only persdmsmvhe punished, who,
without the least regard to justice, fought agatiheir own kindred.
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Footnotes:

1. See Antig. B. XIV. ch. 13. sect. 10; and Of the WA Il. ch. 12. sect.
9.

2. These great devastations made about the temple drealeOf the Warr,
B. Il. ch. 3. sect. 3, seem not to have been &idified in the days of
Nero; till whose time there were eighteen thousanckmen continually
employed in rebuilding and repairing that temple,Jasephus informs
us, Antig. B. XX. ch. 9. sect. 7. See the notelat place.

3. Unless this Judas, the son of Ezekias, be the sathethat Theudas,
mentioned Acts 5:36, Josephus must have omitted fumthat other
Thoualas, whom he afterward mentions, under Fadies Roman
governor, B. XX. ch. 5. sect. 1, is much too laiecbrrespond to him
that is mentioned in the Acts. The names Theudaaddeus, and Judas
differ but little. See Archbishop Usher's Annalsfail. 4001. However,
since Josephus does not pretend to reckon up Hus lod all those ten
thousand disorders in Judea, which he tells us wesa abroad, see
sect. 4 and 8, the Theudas of the Acts might biheathead of one of
those seditions, though not particularly named ioy. A hus he informs
us here, sect. 6, and Of the War, B. Il. ch. 4t.S&cthat certain of the
seditious came and burnt the royal palace at AmssthiuBetharamphta,
upon the river Jordan. Perhaps their leader, whmot named by
Josephus, might be this Theudas.
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Chapter 11

Caesar Confirmed Herod's Testament

1. So when Varus had settled these affairs, andplamkd the former
legion at Jerusalem, he returned back to Antioch;ds for Archelaus, he
had new sources of trouble come upon him at Romethe occasions
following: for an embassage of the Jews was conmRadime, Varus having
permitted the nation to send it, that they mightitipm for the liberty of
living by their own laws. (1) Now the number of tambassadors that were
sent by the authority of the nation were fifty, idich they joined above
eight thousand of the Jews that were at Rome ajlrelddreupon Caesar
assembled his friends, and the chief men amondrtrmeans, in the temple
of Apollo, (2) which he had built at a vast chargétither the ambassadors
came, and a multitude of the Jews that were tHezady came with them, as
did also Archelaus and his friends; but as for skgeral kinsmen which
Archelaus had, they would not join themselves \aitin, out of their hatred
to him; and yet they thought it too gross a thimg them to assist the
ambassadors [against him], as supposing it would desgrace to them in
Caesar's opinion to think of thus acting in opposito a man of their own
kindred. Philip (3) also was come hither out ofi&yby the persuasion of
Varus, with this principal intention to assist Hsother [Archelaus]; for
Varus was his great friend: but still so, that hete should any change
happen in the form of government, (which Varus sasgd there would,)
and if any distribution should be made on accoditih® number that desired
the liberty of living by their own laws, that he ght not be disappointed, but
might have his share in it.

2. Now upon the liberty that was given to the Jawasnbassadors to

speak, they who hoped to obtain a dissolution n§lki government betook
themselves to accuse Herod of his iniquities; dr&y declared that he was
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indeed in name a king, but that he had taken tesdlinthat uncontrollable
authority which tyrants exercise over their sulyeand had made use of that
authority for the destruction of the Jews, and miod abstain from making
many innovations among them besides, accordingsamWwn inclinations;
and that whereas there were a great many who pdrish that destruction
he brought upon them, so many indeed as no ots&rirelates, they that
survived were far more miserable than those th#emd under him; not
only by the anxiety they were in from his looks agidposition towards
them, but from the danger their estates were ibetrig taken away by him.
That he did never leave off adorning these citibat tlay in their
neighborhood, but were inhabited by foreigners; bat that the cities
belonging to his own government were ruined, ardriyt destroyed that
whereas, when he took the kingdom, it was in amaexdinary flourishing
condition, he had filled the nation with the utmosigree of poverty; and
when, upon unjust pretenses, he had slain anyeohdfility, he took away
their estates; and when he permitted any of thelméphe condemned them
to the forfeiture of what they possessed. And le=sitie annual impositions
which he laid upon every one of them, they werentke liberal presents to
himself, to his domestics and friends, and to sottnhis slaves as were
vouchsafed the favor of being his tax-gatherersabse there was no way of
obtaining a freedom from unjust violence withoutigg either gold or silver
for it. That they would say nothing of the corrgptiof the chastity of their
virgins, and the reproach laid on their wives focantinency, and those
things acted after an insolent and inhuman manmecause it was not a
smaller pleasure to the sufferers to have suclyshooncealed, than it would
have been not to have suffered them. That Herodondduch abuses upon
them as a wild beast would not have put on theime ihad power given him
to rule over us; and that although their nation lpadsed through many
subversions and alterations of government, thaitohy gave no account of
any calamity they had ever been under, that coeld&dmpared with this
which Herod had brought upon their nation; thawats for this reason that
they thought they might justly and gladly saluteelaus as king, upon this
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supposition, that whosoever should be set over tkiegdom, he would
appear more mild to them than Herod had been; batthey had joined
with him in the mourning for his father, in order gratify him, and were
ready to oblige him in other points also, if thepultl meet with any degree
of moderation from him; but that he seemed to baidiest he should not be
deemed Herod's own son; and so, without any deymmediately let the
nation understand his meaning, and this before dioisinion was well
established, since the power of disposing of ibbgéd to Caesar, who could
either give it to him or not, as he pleased. Treahhd given a specimen of
his future virtue to his subjects, and with whatdkiof moderation and good
administration he would govern them, by that hisstfiaction, which
concerned them, his own citizens, and God himdstf,avhen he made the
slaughter of three thousand of his own countryntethetemple. How then
could they avoid the just hatred of him, who, te thst of his barbarity, hath
added this as one of our crimes, that we have @gpasd contradicted him
in the exercise of his authority? Now the main ghthey desired was this:
That they might be delivered from kingly and theslforms of government,
(4) and might be added to Syria, and be put unkeratuthority of such
presidents of theirs as should be sent to themthiatr it would thereby be
made evident, whether they be really a seditiowplee and generally fond
of innovations, or whether they would live in ardery manner, if they
might have governors of any sort of moderatioroset them.

3. Now when the Jews had said this, Nicolaus vated the kings from
those accusations, and said, that as for Herode $18 had never been thus
accused all the time of his life, it was not fitr fthose that might have
accused him of lesser crimes than those now medioand might have
procured him to be punished during his lifetime,biong an accusation
against him now he is dead. He also attributechtiti®ns of Archlaus to the
Jews' injuries to him, who, affecting to govern wwary to the laws, and
going about to kill those that would have hindettegin from acting unjustly,
when they were by him punished for what they hadedomade their
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complaints against him; so he accused them of #iempts for innovation,
and of the pleasure they took in sedition, by reasb their not having
learned to submit to justice and to the laws, klitdesiring to be superior in
all things. This was the substance of what Nicokaid.

4. When Caesar had heard these pleadings, he\didstile assembly;
but a few days afterwards he appointed Archelaasjnideed to be king of
the whole country, but ethnarch of the one halftledt which had been
subject to Herod, and promised to give him the Irdygnity hereatfter, if he
governed his part virtuously. But as for the othalf, he divided it into two
parts, and gave it to two other of Herod's son®hiip and to Antipas, that
Antipas who disputed with Archelaus for the wholegdom. Now to him it
was that Peres and Galilee paid their tribute, Wwiamounted annually to
two hundred talents, (5) while Batanea, with Travhe, as well as
Auranitis, with a certain part of what was calléeé House of Zenodorus, (6)
paid the tribute of one hundred talents to Phibgt Idumea, and Judea, and
the country of Samaria paid tribute to Archelaug, i|ad now a fourth part
of that tribute taken off by the order of Caesahowdecreed them that
mitigation, because they did not join in this reévelith the rest of the
multitude. There were also certain of the citiesiolvhpaid tribute to
Archelaus: Strato's Tower and Sebaste, with Joppalarusalem; for as to
Gaza, and Gadara, and Hippos, they were Greciags,civhich Caesar
separated from his government, and added themetqtbvince of Syria.
Now the tribute-money that came to Archelaus ewssr from his own
dominions amounted to six hundred talents.

5. And so much came to Herod's sons from theief&hnheritance. But
Salome, besides what her brother left her by hssateent, which were
Jamnia, and Ashdod, and Phasaelis, and five hurtimdand [drachmae]
of coined silver, Caesar made her a present oya habitation at Askelo; in
all, her revenues amounted to sixty talents byydar, and her dwelling-
house was within Archelaus's government. The résb af the king's
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relations received what his testament allotted thelloreover, Caesar made
a present to each of Herod's two virgin daughteesjdes what their father
left them, of two hundred and fifty thousand [dnaa®] of silver, and
married them to Pheroras's sons: he also grantdédaialwas bequeathed to
himself to the king's sons, which was one thouskwel hundred talents,
excepting a few of the vessels, which he resergetiifnself; and they were
acceptable to him, not so much for the great véieg were of, as because
they were memorials of the king to him.

Footnotes:

1. See Of the War, B. Il. ch. 2. sect. 3.

2. See the note, Of the War, B. Il. ch. 6. sect. 1.

3. He was tetrarch afterward.

4. 1f any one compare that Divine prediction concegnthe tyrannical
power which Jewish kings would exercise over thénhey would be
so foolish as to prefer it before their ancientottracy or aristocracy, 1
Samuel 8:1-22; Antig. B. VI. ch. 4. sect. 4, helwdon find that it was
superabundantly fulfilled in the days of Herod, &mat to such a degree,
that the nation now at last seem sorely to repérsuoh their ancient
choice, in opposition to God's better choice fagnth and had much
rather be subject to even a pagan Roman governarahtheir deputies,
than to be any longer under the oppression of #mily of Herod,;
which request of theirs Augustus did not now gtaeim, but did it for
the one half of that nation in a few years aftedyaunpon fresh
complaints made by the Jews against Archelaus, whder the more
humble name of an ethnarch, which Augustus only ldvawow allow
him, soon took upon him the insolence and tyranhhis father king
Herod, as the remaining part of this book will imfous, and particularly
ch. 13. sect. 2.

5. This is not true. See Antiq. B. XIV. ch. 9. sect43and ch. 12. sect. 2;
and ch. 13. sect. 1, 2. Antig. B. XV. ch. 3. sé¢gtand ch. 10. sect. 2, 3.
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Antig. B. XVI. ch. 9. sect. 3. Since Josephus heferms us that
Archelaus had one half of the kingdom of Herod, presently informs
us further that Archelaus's annual income, afterabatement of one
guarter for the present, was 600 talents, we masetbre ga ther pretty
nearly what was Herod the Great's yearly incomeebn about 1600
talents, which, at the known value of 3000 sheleks talent, and about
2s. 10d. to a shekel, in the days of Josephusth&erote on Antiq. B.
[ll. ch. 8. sect. 2, amounts to 680,000 sterlinga®um; which income,
though great in itself, bearing no proportion ts taast expenses every
where visible in Josephus, and to the vast sunmsfhiehind him in his
will, ch. 8. sect. 1, and ch. 12. sect. 1, the nagst have arisen either
from his confiscation of those great men's estate®m he put to death,
or made to pay fine for the saving of their lives,from some other
heavy methods of oppression which such savagetsytemually exercise
upon their miserable subjects; or rather from thesaeral methods not
together, all which yet seem very much too smalhis expenses, being
drawn from no larger a nation than that of the Jemsich was very
populous, but without the advantage of trade tmdothem riches; so
that | cannot but strongly suspect that no smatt pathis his wealth
arose from another source; | mean from some vass $1e took out of
David's sepulcher, but concealed from the peope.tBe note on Antiqg.
B. VII. ch. 15. sect. 3.

. Take here a very useful note of Grotias, on Lule Bere quoted by Dr.
Hudson: "When Josephus says that some part of theseh (or
possession) of Zenodorus (i.e. Abilene) was altottePhilip, he thereby
declares that the larger part of it belonged totlamo This other was
Lysanias, whom Luke mentions, of the posterity lidttLysanias who
was possessed of the same country called Abileor the city Abila,
and by others Chalcidene, from the city Chaleisenthe government
of the East was under Antonius, and this after éPtgl the son of
Menneus; from which Lysanias this country came & dommonly
called the Country of Lysanias; and as, after thatldl of the former
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Lyanias, it was called the tetrarchy of Zenodosgs, after the death of
Zenodorus, or when the time for which he hired @&swended. when
another Lysanias, of the same name with the formas, possessed of
the same country, it began to be called the Tdtyammf Lysanias."
However, since Josephus elsewhere (Antig. B. XX7clsect. 1) clearly
distinguishes Abilene from Cilalcidcue, Groius mus# here so far
mistaken.
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Chapter 12

A Spurious Alexander

1. When these affairs had been thus settled byataascertain young
man, by birth a Jew, but brought up by a Romardfmean in the city Sidon,
ingrafted himself into the kindred of Herod, by thesemblance of his
countenance, which those that saw him attestee thdt of Alexander, the
son of Herod, whom he had slain; and this was arteiment to him to
endeavor to obtain the government; so he tooknods an assistant a man
of his own country, (one that was well acquainteithvthe affairs of the
palace, but, on other accounts, an ill man, andvamese nature made him
capable of causing great disturbances to the pudatid one that became a
teacher of such a mischievous contrivance to thergtand declared himself
to be Alexander, and the son of Herod, but stoleaya by one of those that
were sent to slay him, who, in reality, slew othem, in order to deceive the
spectators, but saved both him and his brothertdtngus. Thus was this
man elated, and able to impose on those that camignt and when he was
come to Crete, he made all the Jews that camestoulise with him believe
him [to be Alexander]. And when he had gotten muatney which had
been presented to him there, he passed over tosiveloere he got much
more money than he had before, out of the bel®y thad that he was of the
royal family, and their hopes that he would recolvisrfather's principality,
and reward his benefactors; so he made haste teRamid was conducted
thither by those strangers who entertained himwids also so fortunate, as,
upon his landing at Dicearchia, to bring the Jelast twwere there into the
same delusion; and not only other people, but alsthose that had been
great with Herod, or had a kindness for him, joitie@imselves to this man as
to their king. The cause of it was this, that megrevglad of his pretenses,
which were seconded by the likeness of his couniEavhich made those
that had been acquainted with Alexander stronglgeieve that he was no
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other but the very same person, which they alsdirooed to others by oath;
insomuch that when the report went about him teatvhs coming to Rome,
the whole multitude of the Jews that were there twart to meet him,
ascribing it to Divine Providence that he has sexpectedly escaped, and
being very joyful on account of his mother's fam#ynd when he was come,
he was carried in a royal litter through the sspeaind all the ornaments
about him were such as kings are adorned withaltlais was at the expense
of those that entertained him. The multitude alsokied about him greatly,
and made mighty acclamations to him, and nothing evaitted which could
be thought suitable to such as had been so unedheqreserved.

2. When this thing was told Caesar, he did notebelit, because Herod
was not easily to be imposed upon in such affara@re of great concern to
him; yet, having some suspicion it might be soséet one Celadus, a freed-
man of his, and one that had conversed with thegaoen themselves, and
bade him bring Alexander into his presence; so toeidht him, being no
more accurate in judging about him than the reghefmultitude. Yet did
not he deceive Caesar; for although there was emiglance between him
and Alexander, yet was it not so exact as to impossuch as were prudent
in discerning; for this spurious Alexander had lasids rough, by the labors
he had been put to and instead of that softnebsayf which the other had,
and this as derived from his delicate and geneedlugation, this man, for
the contrary reason, had a rugged body. When, fireteCaesar saw how
the master and the scholar agreed in this lyingystnd in a bold way of
talking, he inquired about Aristobulus, and askddhisvbecame of him who
(it seems) was stolen away together with him, amdvhat reason it was that
he did not come along with him, and endeavor t@verc that dominion
which was due to his high birth also. And when &iel $hat he had been left
in the isle of Crete, for fear of the dangers o ®ea, that, in case any
accident should come to himself, the posterity afrisinne might not utterly
perish, but that Aristobulus might survive, and igsbnthose that laid such
treacherous designs against them; and when he vpegse in his

66



affirmations, and the author of the imposture agreesupporting it, Caesar
took the young man by himself, and said to him,thidu wilt not impose
upon me, thou shalt have this for thy reward, thati shalt escape with thy
life; tell me, then, who thou art, and who it whatthad boldness enough to
contrive such a cheat as this. For this contrivaa¢eo considerable a piece
of villainy to be undertaken by one of thy age."cAdingly, because he had
no other way to take, he told Caesar the contreaand after what manner
and by whom it was laid together. So Caesar, ugmsemwing the spurious
Alexander to be a strong active man, and fit tokweith his hands, that he
might not break his promise to him, put him amongst that were to row
among the mariners, but slew him that induced loirda what he had done;
for as for the people of Melos, he thought thenfigehtly punished, in
having thrown away so much of their money upon $psrious Alexander.
And such was the ignominious conclusion of thisdbadntrivance about the
spurious Alexander.
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Chapter 13

Archelaus Upon a Second Accusation Was
Banished to Vienna

1. When Archelaus was entered on his ethnarchy,vea®l come into
Judea, he accused Joazar, the son of Boethussisfiag the seditious, and
took away the high priesthood from him, and putagér his brother in his
place. He also magnificently rebuilt the royal paléhat had been at Jericho,
and he diverted half the water with which the g#taof Neara used to be
watered, and drew off that water into the plainwater those palm trees
which he had there planted: he also built a villaged put his own name
upon it, and called it Archelais. Moreover, he sgmessed the law of our
fathers (1) and married Glaphyra, the daughter ehélaus, who had been
the wife of his brother Alexander, which Alexanded three children by
her, while it was a thing detestable among the Jew®arry the brother's
wife. Nor did this Eleazar abide long in the higiepthood, Jesus, the son of
Sie, being put in his room while he was still ligin

2. But in the tenth year of Archelaus's governméenth his brethren,
and the principal men of Judea and Samaria, naigbable to bear his
barbarous and tyrannical usage of them, accusedbbdiare Caesar, and that
especially because they knew he had broken the emasnof Caesar, which
obliged him to behave himself with moderation amahgm. Whereupon
Caesar, when he heard it, was very angry, anddctleArchelaus's steward,
who took care of his affairs at Rome, and whoseenams Archelaus also;
and thinking it beneath him to write to Archelabs, bid him sail away as
soon as possible, and bring him to us: so the masterhaste in his voyage,
and when he came into Judea, he found Archelagsiigawith his friends;
so he told him what Caesar had sent him abouthasténed him away. And
when he was come [to Rome], Caesar, upon heariag) edntain accusers of
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his had to say, and what reply he could make, l@hished him, and
appointed Vienna, a city of Gaul, to be the platais habitation, and took
his money away from him.

3. Now, before Archelaus was gone up to Rome up@nnessage, he
related this dream to his friends: That he saw ebcsrn, in number ten, full
of wheat, perfectly ripe, which ears, as it seettwedim, were devoured by
oxen. And when he was awake and gotten up, be¢hasasion appeared to
beof great importance to him, he sent for the @&rsn whose study was
employed about dreams. And while some were of queian, and some of
another, (for all their interpretations did noteg) Simon, a man of the sect
of the Essens, desired leave to speak his mint/fraed said that the vision
denoted a change in the affairs of Archelaus, aatinot for the better; that
oxen, because that animal takes uneasy pains inlabisrs, denoted
afflictions, and indeed denoted, further, a chamig&ffairs, because that land
which is ploughed by oxen cannot remain in its fermstate; and that the
ears of corn being ten, determined the like nunaberears, because an ear
of corn grows in one year; and that the time ofh&aus's government was
over. And thus did this man expound the dream. Movihe fifth day after
this dream came first to Archelaus, the other Almh® that was sent to
Judea by Caesar to call him away, came hither also.

4. The like accident befell Glaphyra his wife, wivas the daughter of
king Archelaus, who, as | said before, was marnedile she was a virgin,
to Alexander, the son of Herod, and brother of &tahs; but since it fell out
so that Alexander was slain by his father, she magied to Juba, the king
of Lybia; and when he was dead, and she lived @owhood in Cappadocia
with her father, Archclaus divorced his former wiflariamne, and married
her, so great was his affection for this Glphyrapwduring her marriage to
him, saw the following dream: She thought she sdex@nder standing by
her, at which she rejoiced, and embraced him wiatgaffection; but that he
complained o her, and said, O Glaphyra! thou priothes saying to be true,
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which assures us that women are not to be truBieldt not thou pledge thy
faith to me? and wast not thou married to me wihem twast a virgin? and
had we not children between us? Yet hast thou feegdhe affection | bare
to thee, out of a desire of a second husband. Astrthou been satisfied with
that injury thou didst me, but thou hast been dd be to procure thee a third
husband to lie by thee, and in an indecent andudeat manner hast entered
into my house, and hast been married to Archeldyshusband and my
brother. However, | will not forget thy former kiradfection for me, but will
set thee free from every such reproachful actiod, @ause thee to be mine
again, as thou once wast. When she had related tthiker female
companions, in a few days' time she departeditbis |

5. Now I did not think these histories improper tloe present discourse,
both because my discourse now is concerning kiagg,otherwise also on
account of the advantage hence to be drawn, asfavdlhe confirmation of
the immortality of the soul, as of the provident¢€&od over human affairs, |
thought them fit to be set down; but if any one slo®t believe such
relations, let him indeed enjoy his own opiniont bet him not hinder
another that would thereby encourage himself inueir So Archelaus's
country was laid to the province of Syria; and @yus, one that had been
consul, was sent by Caesar to take account of psagffects in Syria, and to
sell the house of Archelaus.

Footnotes:
1. Spanheim seasonably observes here, that it wagid@p the Jews to

marry their brother's wife when she had childrenhiey first husband,
and that Zonaras (cites, or) interprets the clie$ere us accordingly.
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